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April 12, 2016 

To Our Fellow Stockholders: 

At XO Group, our mission is to help couples navigate and enjoy life’s most important moments together. As the 
market leader and a digital pioneer, management and our Board of Directors take seriously our responsibility to 
deliver greater value to our users, business partners and stockholders. 

Since our founding as a digital wedding pioneer 20 years ago, more than 25 million couples have turned to  
The Knot for advice on the most important day of their lives. Thanks to our beloved brands, trusted content and 
market leadership, no one in the industry reaches more engaged couples than we do, allowing us to effectively 
serve large brand advertisers and local wedding professionals with valuable advertising solutions. Our continued 
growth in serving expectant and new parents through The Bump has added further to our reach and our 
capabilities. Shortly after I was named CEO in 2014, we committed to a plan of focused execution to attain 
double-digit revenue growth and 20%+ Adjusted EBITDA margins. We plan to achieve quarterly results reflecting 
that target model in the second half of 2016. 

However, the leadership of our company, from the board down through our ranks, believes that we can do much 
more. Today, young couples expect more than inspiration and information. They expect to reach for a mobile 
device and seamlessly find and book the services they need.  This change in platform and consumer behavior is a 
once-in-a-decade opportunity for our company to expand our services and better serve our users and business 
partners. In the future, couples will turn to The Knot for not only inspiration, but to find and transact with these 
services, from their wedding venue to their photographer and their band. By building a transactional marketplace 
for wedding services, The Knot can gain access to a substantially bigger piece of the over $70 billion spent on 
weddings every year. After achieving our target financial model through better execution of our core business, 
this is our next big opportunity.
 
In 2015, through focused execution of the objectives we set in our core businesses, we made significant gains 
toward achieving our target financial model. Online advertising revenue increased 13.6 percent, offsetting 
publishing revenue declines of 12.5 percent. Transactions revenue—which today primarily consist of revenue 
from our registry gifting business, but in the future will encompass transactions across a couple’s entire wedding 
journey—grew 41.8 percent. We completed the exit of our non-core merchandise operations and shuttered The 
Bump print magazine, while still growing total gross profit from $123 million to $131 million and posting Adjusted 
EBITDA of $29 million, the highest recorded by the company. 

We also laid the foundation in 2015 for our future transactional success by evolving from a simple online  
publishing model to a wedding marketplace. With a complete rebuild of TheKnot.com, our service changed from 
an informative and entertaining online wedding resource to a personalized digital service for finding everything 
needed for a wedding, including a robust directory of virtually every local wedding professional in America, 
gifts, décor and fashion items. The number of vendors one could find on The Knot has increased 10X, vendor 
reviews have grown substantially and, combined with the performance of our best-in-class mobile apps, we have 
increased the number of times we connected a user and a wedding professional by 3X, an important signal that 
our marketplace is beginning to function effectively. 

During the year, we deployed all aspects of our capital allocation strategy. We continued to invest in our products 
and technology, repurchased $9 million of stock under our $20 million stock buyback authorization, and executed a 
strategic acquisition and investments totaling $8 million. The October 2015 acquisition of GigMasters, the leading 
transactional marketplace for event entertainers, was of particular importance to our transactional marketplace 
plans. Like The Knot, GigMasters sells paid listings to local wedding professionals; additionally, GigMasters 
charges a transaction commission for every successful connection. 



In 2016, we will continue to execute in our core business while building the capabilities that will make us a successful 
transactional marketplace. The achievement of our target financial model will be an important next milestone for 
our company. The growth in our transactional revenue, and the addition of new transactional capabilities, will be 
important signals of progress toward our next big opportunity.

I want to thank our fellow stockholders for their support throughout 2015, and I want to thank our amazing XO 
team for their tireless commitment to our mission and to the success of our company. In addition to the important 
work our team delivered this past year, our XO family also celebrated more than 25 engagements, weddings and 
births of new babies in 2015. To live and serve these lifestages together is a true joy.

In September 2016, we will celebrate the 20th anniversary of the launch of The Knot. We are proud to continue 
to build this company’s heritage, and believe the best is still yet to come.

Sincerely,

MIKE STEIB
Chief Executive Officer

This letter contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable federal securities laws. Such statements are predictions, and actual 
results may differ materially. Information about factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements is 
provided in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ii

SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements relating to future events and the future performance of XO Group Inc. based 
on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about us and our industry. The statements contained in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not purely historical facts are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, or the Exchange Act. These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology 
such as “may,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “are positioned to,” “continue,” “project,” “guidance,” “target,” “forecast,” 
“anticipated” or comparable terms.

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results or events could differ materially from 
those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, as more fully described in Item 1A (Risk Factors) 
and elsewhere in this report. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, even 
if new information becomes available or other events occur in the future.
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Unless the context otherwise indicates, references in this report to the terms “XO Group,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” and 
“us” refer to XO Group Inc., its divisions and its subsidiaries.

PART I

Item 1. Business

Company Overview

Our mission is to help people navigate and truly enjoy life’s biggest moments together. Our multi-platform brands guide 
couples through transformative life stages - from getting married, to moving in together, to having a baby - and include The 
Knot (#1 wedding marketplace and planning resource), The Bump (a leading pregnancy and parenting brand), and The Nest 
(the hip guide for newlywed couples).

The Knot. The Knot is the nation’s leading wedding resource with a marketplace that seamlessly engages, matches, and 
connects couples with the right products, services, and local wedding professionals they need to plan their wedding. We believe 
that our trusted brand reaches a majority of all couples getting married in the U.S. through the #1 wedding website, TheKnot.com, 
and its mobile apps, national and local wedding magazines, and nationally published books. Based on ComScore data, our 
Knot Wedding Network Websites generate more unique visitors than the next top three competitors combined. The Knot is 
the flagship brand of XO Group Inc., providing trusted information and tools to inspire, plan, and connect couples with the 
right vendors to pull off their perfectly unique wedding. The Knot apps are featured frequently in the Apple App Store, have 
thousands of daily app downloads, and were recognized in 2015 with six award wins and finalist achievements from top award 
programs. By our estimates, we have inspired over 25 million couples during their wedding process. Based on research 
conducted by our internal team, including The Knot Market Intelligence’s Annual Real Wedding Survey, we estimate the 
spend associated with weddings, including payment to vendors who fulfill day of wedding needs, engagement rings, and 
registry gifts, totals over $70 billion annually.

The Bump. The Bump is a leading pregnancy and parenting brand, providing personalized information, content, and 
tools for anyone at any stage of the journey from fertility to pregnancy and parenting through the toddler years. The Bump 
reaches millions of expectant and new parents across its seamless app and web experience. The Bump has twice earned a post 
in Forbes’ Top 100 Best Websites for Women. Based on information from the NCHS National Vital Health Statistics Reports 
and the United States Department of Agriculture, we estimate total annual spend on children ages 0-2 to be greater than $60 
billion.

The Nest. The Nest is a brand focused exclusively on young nesters setting up homes and navigating new lives together. 
The site takes a hip, how-to approach to all things “grown up”: merging finances, buying and decorating homes, entertaining 
and more through content, expert Q&As, online community and interactive tools. 

Services

We offer multiplatform media and marketplace services that enable our advertising and transaction partners to connect 
with our highly engaged audience in the wedding, pregnancy and parenting, and nesting markets. We reach our audience 
through several platforms, including websites, mobile applications, magazines and books, television, and video.

We create value for our audience, advertisers, and partners by delivering relevant and personalized solutions at key 
decision making moments for some of life’s proudest and happiest events. We generate revenue through three distinct and 
diversified products:

Transactions. Our transaction offerings provide opportunities for our audience to purchase products and services. We 
offer programs that enable vendors to sell through our online properties and their own branded websites and properties. We 
earn fixed fees, a percentage of sales, per-unit activity fees, or some combination thereof with respect to these transactions. 
Our transaction offerings include a registry service that enables users to create, manage, and share multiple retail store registries 
from a single source and retailer and local vendor offerings such as invitations, stationery, reception decor, personalized gifts, 
and health and beauty offerings. Our audience also has the opportunity to find entertainment vendors, watch vendor videos, 
read vendor reviews, and book the right vendor for them through our GigMasters.com website. In 2015, approximately 2 
million transactions originated through our platforms, and transaction revenue represented 10.4% of our consolidated revenue 
and was our fastest growing revenue stream.
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Online Media Advertising. We offer online advertising solutions for national brands that enable them to reach our highly 
engaged millennial audience at a critical time in their lives when they are forming brand loyalties. For local wedding 
professionals, we provide both free and paid online listing products that enable them to connect with our highly motivated 
and engaged audience in their local market. We recognize revenue from these sources as National Online Advertising and 
Local Online Advertising, respectively, as described below.

• National Online Advertising. Online programs include (i) sponsored and brand-integrated content, (ii) digital 
and native banner advertisements, (iii) placement in our online search tools and (iv) direct e-mail marketing. 
Advertisers can purchase the right to promote products or services on a specific online editorial area and can purchase 
a special feature on the Company’s sites. In 2015, national online advertising represented 25.2% of our consolidated 
revenue.

• Local Online Advertising. Our local programs include, but are not limited to, (i) online listings, (ii) digital 
advertisements, and (iii) direct e-mail marketing. At December 31, 2015, TheKnot.com hosted over 302,000 free and 
paid local storefront listings in more than 80 local markets highlighting offerings for over 44 categories of wedding 
planning services. On a trailing twelve month basis, TheKnot.com ended 2015 with more than 24,300 paying vendors, 
spending an average of $2,628 per year. In addition to TheKnot.com paid storefront listings, local online advertising 
revenue includes listings revenue generated via our ancillary sites, including GigMasters.com Incorporated, an 
entertainment marketplace we acquired on October 1, 2015, and Two Bright Lights, a wedding photography 
syndication marketplace we acquired on March 26, 2014. In 2015, local online advertising represented 46.6% of our 
consolidated revenue.

Publishing and Other. We publish traditional magazines for our flagship brand, The Knot. The Knot publishes a national 
magazine four times a year, and a regional magazine semi-annually in 16 U.S. markets. Each magazine provides original, 
expert-driven content in our signature voice, driving readers back to our digital assets for an interactive experience and 
additional connections and services. In 2015, publishing and other represented 17.2% of our consolidated revenue.

In the first quarter of 2015, we discontinued our merchandising operations.

Strategy

Our management has decided to pursue the following strategy, which has been approved by our Board of Directors: 

Continue to Grow Transaction Opportunities and Revenue: Our goal is to grow transactions as a percentage of our revenue. 
For our transaction offerings, we are increasing the number and categories of partners with which we work and optimizing 
how and when we present these solutions to our couples and their guests in order to maximize conversion. We are focused 
on increasing the capabilities of our local wedding marketplace in order to facilitate transactions between our audience and 
local wedding professionals, increasing the number of registries our couples create during their wedding or baby planning 
journey and the number of gifts purchased through our platform, and integrating GigMasters.com Incorporated transaction 
capabilities into our local wedding marketplace platform.

Expand Online Advertising Offerings and Reach: In order to fully capitalize on our leading brand position and offer 
greater value to our audience and advertising partners we are taking steps to enhance our online advertising offerings and 
services.  For our national advertising partners, we are expanding our custom content and marketing solutions by developing 
topically relevant and integrated offerings across our products. For our local wedding professionals, we are expanding their 
marketing reach and enhancing the tools we provided to help them better manage their business and engage with our audience. 
As part of this strategy, we entered into a marketing relationship that allows venues, photographers and other local vendors 
outside of the bridal fashion category to reach more couples and are creating solutions that facilitate more valuable matching 
and engagement between our couples and local wedding professionals. 

Grow The Bump: As a growing player in the pregnancy and parenting space, we are launching new technologies to drive 
growth from our Bump offerings. In 2015, we launched a completely re-architected website shifting from a portal experience 
to a feed of relevant content, community, and tools personalized to the age and stage of the pregnancy and baby. In 2016, 
among other initiatives, we are focused on expanding our baby registry and post-natal offering. We believe these investments 
will position us to continue to grow our audience and attract new advertisers and baby registry partners.

Stabilize Publishing: Our goal is to stabilize this revenue stream by continuing to offer quality editorial content, and 
beautifully designed publications that highlight our advertising partner’s offerings, while managing expenses. In this regard, 
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we are closely monitoring our publishing efforts to ensure we deliver high margin revenue, as our audience preferences for 
how they connect with us continues to evolve.

Continuously Examine Our Business: During 2015, we completed the exit of our warehouse operations, and discontinued 
The Bump magazine publication. We believe these actions focus our organization and position us for more profitable growth 
in the future. Going forward, we will continue to pursue opportunities that we believe show clear paths to creating value for 
our stockholders.

Pursue Measured Capital Allocation: Our capital allocation strategy is to balance internal investments, strategic 
investments, mergers and acquisitions, and stock repurchases. In 2015, we acquired GigMasters, a marketplace for party 
planners and hosts to find entertainment and event services and made minority investments in a hotel room block marketplace 
technology company and in another vendor services company. During 2015, we repurchased a total of 513,922 shares of our 
common stock under the stock repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors in 2013.

 
Competition

We compete with companies seeking the attention of our audience and/or the advertising and marketing budgets of our 
business partners, including but not limited to, local marketplaces, general market media and internet companies, wedding 
and baby media and internet companies, social networks, and search engines. We expect ongoing competition because of the 
size of the markets we serve and business opportunities presented by the growth of the internet and transactional marketplaces. 
Competition may also intensify as a result of industry consolidation and a lack of substantial barriers to entry in our market. 
For information regarding competition-related risks, see the information in "Item 1A: Risk Factors" under the caption "We 
face intense competition in our markets. If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that are useful 
to users, we may not remain competitive, and our revenue and results of operations could be adversely affected."

Infrastructure and Technology

Our technology infrastructure has been designed around industry-standard architectures to reduce downtime in the event 
of outages or catastrophic occurrences. We strive to continually improve our technology to enhance the customer experience 
and to increase efficiency, scalability and security. 

There are four major components to our online services comprised of our web, domain name service (“DNS”), network 
infrastructure and database servers. Our web, DNS servers and network infrastructure allow for the failure of multiple 
components with minimal or no effect expected on site operations. We have multiple database servers along with data caching 
serving various parts of our sites, allowing us to segregate parts of the sites for maintenance and upgrades.

Our operations are dependent on the ability to maintain our computer and telecommunications system in effective working 
order and to protect our systems against damage from fire, theft, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure or 
similar events. A portion of our systems hardware is located at a third-party facility in Austin, Texas, and a second failover 
site with matching capabilities in Scottsdale, Arizona. The data centers are network-connected and application data is replicated 
from Austin to Scottsdale on a continuous basis. We have similar capacity in China for our software development operations 
there. Additionally, some of our production applications are on the Amazon Web Services Cloud (AWS). Our operations 
depend, in part, on the ability of these third parties to protect their own systems and our systems from similar unexpected 
adverse events. These third parties provide us with auxiliary power through the use of battery and diesel generators in the 
event of an unexpected power outage. We maintain multiple backups of our data, allowing us to quickly recover from any 
disaster. Additionally, at least once a week, copies of backup tapes are sent to off-site storage.

Regular capacity planning allows us to upgrade existing hardware and integrate new hardware to react quickly to a rapidly 
expanding member base and increased traffic to our sites. Our systems generally operate at 99% uptime. We employ several 
layers of security to protect data transmission and prevent unauthorized access. We keep all of our production servers behind 
firewalls. We do not allow direct outside access, and we enforce strict password management and physical security measures. 
We monitor all systems continuously, and emergency response teams respond to all alerts. We have also contracted the services 
of an outside company to independently monitor our site to help ensure that the site is available. 

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of laws and regulations that apply to transactions, online services, and the internet generally. 
Such laws address a range of issues, such as user privacy, freedom of expression, unsolicited commercial e-mail (spam), 
pricing, content and quality of services and products, taxation, advertising, intellectual property rights, net neutrality, 
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information and cybersecurity, and restrictions or technological requirements regarding the collection, use, storage, protection 
or transfer of consumer data. We monitor pending domestic and foreign legislation and regulatory initiatives to ascertain 
relevance, analyze impact and develop strategic direction surrounding regulatory trends and developments.

Regulators and industry groups have also released self-regulatory principles and guidelines for various data privacy and 
security practices. Interpretation of these laws and guidelines and their application to online services in the U.S. and foreign 
jurisdictions is ongoing, and cannot be fully determined at this time. 

For more information regarding the risks associated with government regulation, see the information in “Item 1A: Risk 
Factors” under the captions: “Our business is subject to government regulation and legal uncertainties related to doing business 
online, and may become subject to more burdensome regulation and oversight”, “We could face additional regulatory 
requirements, tax liabilities and other risks related to our continuing operations in China and Hong Kong, and other markets 
outside the United States where we may commence operations” and “Privacy concerns relating to our technology could damage 
our reputation and deter current and potential users from using our products and services.”

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

We rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, trade dress, domain names and patents to protect our 
intellectual property. We own a portfolio of patents and patent applications in the United States and regularly file patent 
applications to protect intellectual property that we believe is important to our business, including intellectual property related 
to gift registry systems and methods. We believe the duration of our patents is adequate relative to the expected lives of our 
products and services. We pursue the registration of our domain names, trademarks and tradenames in the United States and 
in certain locations outside the United States. Our portfolio of trademarks and tradenames include “The Knot”, “The Bump”, 
“The Nest”, and “GigMasters”,  as well as others. We also own copyrights, including certain content in our websites, 
publications and designs on certain of our products. These intellectual property rights are important to our business and 
marketing efforts. We protect our intellectual property rights by relying on federal, state, and common law rights, including 
registration, in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions, as well as contractual restrictions. The duration of property 
rights in trademarks, service marks and tradenames in the United States, whether registered or not, is predicated on our 
continued use. We are currently using all of our material marks. We have renewed the registrations (or applied for variant 
forms of the registration, where appropriate, to assure continued protection) of our material registered trademarks. We plan 
to continue to use all of our material brand names and marks and to renew the registrations of all of our material registered 
trademarks so long as we continue to use them. We enforce and protect our intellectual property rights through litigation from 
time to time, and by controlling access to our intellectual property and proprietary technology, in part, by entering into 
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and confidentiality agreements with 
third parties.

We have granted licenses to other parties to sell specified products under trademarks in specified distribution channels 
and geographic areas. Some of these license agreements contain advertising commitments. Some are for a short term and may 
not contain specific renewal options. We do not license from third parties any trademarks that are material to our business.

Seasonality

We believe the impact of the frequency of weddings varying from quarter-to-quarter results in lower transactions revenue 
in the first and fourth quarters.  Our publishing business experiences fluctuations resulting in quarter-to-quarter declines in 
the first and third quarters due to the cyclical publishing schedule of our regional publications.  As a result of the enhancement 
of our marketplace, we could potentially experience new and potentially different seasonal patterns in the future.

Employees

As of December 31, 2015, we had a total of 660 employees, of whom 324 were involved in product and content 
development, 284 were involved in sales and marketing and 52 were involved in general and administrative functions. Of 
these totals, 112 employees were located in China. None of our employees is represented by a labor union. We have not 
experienced any work-stoppages, and we consider relations with our employees to be good.

Segments and Geographic Areas

We operate in one reportable segment, as we are organized around our online and offline media. The Company’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker receives monthly financial results, which contains revenues, cost of revenues and gross margin of 
the three components of the Company’s business: (i) Online Advertising, (ii) Transactions and (iii) Publishing and Other.  In 
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addition, there is a substantial amount of costs that benefit all service lines, but are not allocated to individual cost of revenue 
categories. Revenue information at the product or service level is not captured in the Company’s financial reporting systems 
and is not included in internal management reporting.

Information about geographic revenue is set forth in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Segments and Geographic Areas.” For a discussion 
of the risks related to foreign operations, see the information in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under 
the heading "Risk Factors" under the caption "We could face additional regulatory requirements, tax liabilities and other risks 
related to our continuing operations in China and Hong Kong, and other markets outside the United States where we may 
commence operations." For a discussion of revenue, net income and total assets, see Part II, Items 7 and 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

Corporate History

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware and commenced operations in 1996. In 1999, we listed on the NASDAQ 
National Market. We transferred our listing from the NASDAQ Global Market to the New York Stock Exchange in June 2011. 
At the same time, we changed our corporate name to XO Group Inc. (from The Knot, Inc.), and our stock symbol to XOXO 
(from KNOT), in order to highlight our expanded footprint across multiple life stages.

Available Information

XO Group’s corporate website is located at www.xogroupinc.com. XO Group makes available free of charge, on or through 
our corporate website, our annual, quarterly and current reports, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably 
practicable after electronically filing such reports with, or furnishing to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 
Information contained on XO Group’s corporate website is not part of this report or any other report filed with the SEC.

XO Group’s Corporate Governance Guidelines; Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all officers, directors 
and employees; Code of Ethics for the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers (and any amendments 
to, or waivers under such code); and the charters of the Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committees of our Board of Directors, are also available on XO Group’s corporate website and are available in print to any 
stockholder upon request by writing to XO Group Inc., 195 Broadway, 25th Floor, New York, New York 10007, Attention: 
Investor Relations.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and/or results of operations. In addition 
to other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following risk factors should be carefully considered before purchasing 
shares of our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and 
uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that 
adversely affect our business.  Because of the following factors, as well as other factors affecting the Company’s financial condition 
and results of operations, past financial performance should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of future performance, 
and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our operating results may fluctuate, are difficult to predict and could fall below expectations.

Our operating and financial results have fluctuated significantly on a quarterly basis during our operating history and may 
continue to fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. These factors include:

• the level of online usage and traffic on our digital properties;
• the addition or loss of advertisers;
• the advertising budgeting cycles of specific advertisers;
• the regional and national magazines’ publishing cycles;
• the transition of portions of our business to a marketplace model, and the speed with which our consumers and vendors 

transition to that marketplace; 
• the amount and timing of capital expenditures and other costs relating to the expansion of our operations, including those 

related to acquisitions;
• the introduction of new sites and services by us or our competitors;
• changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors; and
• general economic conditions, as well as economic conditions specific to the Internet, online and offline media and 

transactions.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to meet rapidly changing advertiser, vendor and consumer demands for content, 
products and user engagement in a timely manner, if at all, even if we are successful in enhancing and upgrading our digital 
properties (including our websites and mobile properties) in response to advances in technology and evolving preferences. If the 
number of visitors to our digital properties stagnates or declines, we may not be able to create or maintain sufficient advertiser or 
vendor interest in our digital platforms. Even if we are successful in driving consumer traffic to our digital properties, advertisers 
and vendors are sensitive to general economic conditions and reductions in consumer spending, among other events and trends, 
which could result in lower transactions revenue and reduced advertising expenditures, particularly from national advertisers. We 
cannot assure you that our current advertisers will fulfill their obligations under existing contracts, continue to advertise beyond 
the terms of existing contracts or enter into any additional contracts with us. Our advertising and other revenue could also decline 
as a result of pricing pressures on digital advertising rates due to industry developments, such as the fragmentation of digital media. 
If we are unable to effectively monetize our digital properties, our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects 
could be materially and adversely affected.

Historically, we have not consistently generated income. We incur a significant percentage of our expenses, such as employee 
compensation, prior to generating revenues associated with those expenses. Moreover, our expense levels are based, in part, on 
our expectation of future revenues. We may be unable to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected revenue shortfall. 
If we have a shortfall in revenue or if operating expenses exceed our expectations or cannot be adjusted accordingly, then our 
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. We expect to continue to incur significant operating expenses 
and, as a result, we will need to generate significant revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. We cannot assure you that we 
can achieve or maintain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. Failure to achieve or maintain profitability may 
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, as well as the market price of our 
common stock.

Due to the foregoing or other factors, it is also possible that our results of operations in one or more future quarters may fall 
below the expectations of investors and/or securities analysts. We also experience some seasonal trends that may produce variations 
in quarterly results and financial conditions. To the extent there are significant fluctuations in our financial results, the trading 
price of our common stock could decline materially. In view of the rapidly evolving nature of our business, period-to-period 
comparisons of our results of operations may not be meaningful, and you should not rely upon them as an indication of future 
performance.
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Our transactions business is dependent on third party participants, whose lack of performance could adversely affect our results 
of operations.

A growing portion of our revenue is from transactions.  Our transactions revenue is dependent on third parties’ participation 
in our transactions programs, and the success of those partners and vendors. We are dependent on our retail partners to manage 
competitive pressures, and to the extent they are unable to do so, we may experience lower revenue, which could materially and 
adversely affect our results of operations. Such businesses are also dependent on our partners keeping their respective websites 
and other digital properties operational, as well as on the visitors who use those sites. Any decline in traffic or technical difficulties 
experienced by these websites or mobile devices may negatively affect our results of operations.

The fulfillment and delivery of products purchased by customers are processed and delivered by our third party partners. As 
a result, we are dependent on our partners to manage inventory, process orders and distribute products to our customers in a timely 
manner. We also rely on information provided by these partners to update and integrate information daily. If our partners experience 
problems with customer fulfillment or inventory management, or if we cannot integrate our processes with those of our partners, 
our business, results of operations and financial condition would be harmed.

In addition, our partners are highly dependent on the health of the U.S. or foreign economies and many are further dependent 
on local economic conditions in the states or countries in which they primarily conduct their businesses. Deterioration in 
macroeconomic conditions and consumer confidence that negatively impacts our partners’ businesses could result in lower revenue 
to our business, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

Our ongoing investment in new businesses and new products, services, and technologies is inherently risky, and could disrupt 
our ongoing business and/or fail to generate the results we are expecting.

We have invested in, and expect to continue to invest in, new businesses, products, services and technologies.  We cannot be 
certain that our products, services and digital properties will appeal to, and garner acceptance from, the public or our advertisers 
and other third party partners. We expect to continue to increase our operating expense growth in excess of historic rates in the 
near future to launch new products or upgrade existing products. We may not be able to successfully leverage our audience share 
or brand positioning to create and maintain use of our new products and services. Moreover, even if new features and services 
prove to be commercially successful, they may reduce usage of our existing features and services. If we are unable to generate 
sufficient revenue from new services and features to gain a return on our investments, or if our revenue from existing services 
declines as a direct result of a shift in consumer usage to new services, our business, results of operations and financial condition 
could be adversely affected.

Researching and developing, launching, gaining acceptance of and establishing profitability for a new or expanded product, 
service or digital property, or assimilating and marketing an acquired product, is both risky and costly. New products generally 
incur initial operating losses. Such costs are generally expensed as incurred and, accordingly, our profitability from year to year 
may be adversely affected by the number, timing, and ultimate success of the launches of new products, services and digital 
properties. Other businesses and brands that we may develop also may not prove successful. Resources deployed on new technology 
or products could reduce our ability to grow and/or generate revenue from existing sources.

Capital expenditures required for upgrades to our systems may have a material impact on our financial condition and results 
of operations. We may not be able to secure the technology talent to complete these upgrades. Moreover, oversight of these upgrades 
will consume significant attention from our management, which could hamper our ability to run our business. If our new technology 
and features are not successful, we may not be able to scale our digital properties or react to a changing competitive landscape. 
As a result, the value and recognition of our brands, as well as our financial condition and prospects, could be materially and 
adversely affected.

More people are using mobile phones and other wireless devices to access the Internet, and if we are unable to develop solutions 
that generate revenue from advertising and other services delivered to such devices, our business could be harmed.

Our content was originally designed for users accessing the Internet on a desktop computer. The number of people who access 
the Internet through devices other than computers, including mobile phones and handheld computers such as notebooks and tablets, 
and who use mobile payment and transaction services, has increased substantially in recent years and is expected to continue to 
grow. A significant and growing portion of users access our digital platforms through mobile devices. To date, we have not been 
able to generate revenue from our advertising and other services delivered to mobile devices as effectively as we have for our 
advertising and other services on traditional computers. In the absence of effective mobile advertising and other service solutions, 
we may be unable to attract and retain customers for advertisers or other services. If we are unable to implement successful 
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monetization strategies for mobile users, or if we incur excessive expenses in our effort to do so, our business and results of 
operations could be adversely affected.

Our businesses could be negatively affected by changes in Internet search engine algorithms.

We depend in part on various Internet search engines (such as Google, Bing and Yahoo!) to direct traffic to our websites and 
properties. Similarly, we depend on distribution relationships with high-traffic digital properties, such as those operated by 
Microsoft’s MSN and Yahoo!, to promote our websites and properties. Our ability to maintain the number of potential customers 
directed to our websites and properties is not entirely within our control. For example, search engines often revise their algorithms 
in an attempt to improve the search results presented to their users. Our ability to influence the search engine rankings of our 
websites and properties, through our search engine optimization efforts or otherwise, is limited. In addition, we cannot assure you 
that our distribution relationships with high-traffic digital properties will yield additional users or that such relationships will 
continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms. Changes by Internet search engines in their algorithms, or changes to 
competitive dynamics that affect our distribution relationships in a negative manner, could cause our websites and properties to 
receive less user traffic. Fewer potential customers could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

We face intense competition in our markets. If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that are useful 
to users, we may not remain competitive, and our revenue and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The Internet and mobile advertising markets, online markets and publishing markets in which our brands operate are intensely 
competitive, and we expect competition to intensify in the future. For example, our brands face competition for members, users, 
readers and advertisers from the following areas:

• stand-alone online services, websites, mobile applications or blogs targeted at brides and grooms, such as those offered 
by Weddingbee, WeddingWire, and MyWedding.com, and at new parents, such as Johnson & Johnson’s BabyCenter and 
others;

• online and brick and mortar retail stores, manufacturers and regional directories;
• wedding sub-domains, channels or niche sites of major online destinations or portals, such as Google and AOL’s Huffington 

Post;
• bridal magazines and their online destinations, such as Condé Nast’s Brides, and Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia’s 

Martha Stewart Weddings;
• parenting magazines and their online destinations; and
• online and retail stores offering gift registries, especially from retailers offering specific gift registries.

We expect competition to increase because of the business opportunities presented by the growth of the Internet and transaction-
based marketplaces. Our competition may also intensify as a result of industry consolidation and a lack of substantial barriers to 
entry. Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical and 
marketing resources, greater name recognition and substantially larger user bases than we have and, therefore, have significant 
ability to attract advertisers, vendors and users. In addition, many of our competitors may be able to respond more quickly than 
we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in digital user requirements, as well as devote greater resources than we can 
to the development, promotion and sale of services.

Marketplaces compete in two-sided markets, and must attract both consumers and vendors in order to be successful. Consumers 
who might use our marketplaces to buy goods or services have a wide variety of alternatives, including traditional department, 
warehouse, boutique, discount and general merchandise stores (as well as the online and mobile operations of these traditional 
retailers), online retailers and their related mobile offerings, online and offline classified services and other shopping channels. In 
addition, consumers have a large number of online and offline channels focused on one or more of the categories of products and 
services offered on our site. Consumers and vendors who might use our sites to sell goods or services also have many alternatives, 
including general online ecommerce sites, and more specialized sites, such as websites operated by bridal gown designers, wedding 
hall venues, destination wedding resorts, etc. Vendors who use our marketplace may also choose to sell their goods and services 
through other channels.

The principal competitive factors for marketplaces like ours include the following:

• ability to attract, retain and engage consumers and vendors, as well as maintain user engagement;
• volume of transactions and price and selection of products and services;
• trust in the vendor and the transaction;
• customer service (both that provided by us and that provided by the vendors in our marketplace);
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• brand recognition;
• website, mobile platform and application ease-of-use and accessibility;
• system reliability;
• level of service fees; and
• ease of use and quality of search tools.

We cannot assure you that our current or potential competitors will not develop services and products comparable or superior 
to those that we develop or adapt more quickly than we do to new technologies, evolving industry trends or changing Internet user 
preferences. Increased competition could result in price reductions, lower margins or loss of market share, any of which would 
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that we will be 
able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

We may be subject to legal liability associated with providing online services or content.

We may be subject to claims for defamation, negligence, copyright or trademark infringement, personal injury or other legal 
theories relating to the information we publish, display or distribute. These types of claims have been brought, sometimes 
successfully, against online services, as well as other print publications in the past. We could also be subject to claims based upon 
the content that is accessible from our online sites through links to other online sites or through content and materials that may be 
posted by members in message bulletin boards. Our insurance, which covers commercial general liability, may not adequately 
protect us against these types of claims.

The laws that shield online service providers such as us from liability for the activities of users of their online services are 
often challenged in the United States and internationally. We may be unable to prevent users of our services from providing 
negligent, unlawful or inappropriate advice, information or content via our services, or from behaving in an unlawful manner, and 
we may be subject to allegations of civil or criminal liability for negligent, fraudulent, unlawful or inappropriate activities carried 
out by users of our services. Claims could be made against online services companies under both United States and foreign law 
such as fraud, defamation, libel, invasion of privacy, negligence, data breach, copyright or trademark infringement, or other theories 
based on the nature and content of the materials disseminated by users of our services. In addition, domestic and foreign legislation 
has been proposed that could prohibit or impose liability for the transmission over the Internet of certain types of information. 
Our defense of any of these actions could be costly and involve significant time and attention of our management and other 
resources.

The listing or sale by our vendors of unlawful, counterfeit or stolen goods or unlawful services, or sale of goods or services 
in an unlawful manner, may result in allegations of civil or criminal liability for unlawful activities against us involving activities 
carried out by vendors through our marketplace. Allegations of infringement of intellectual property rights, including but not 
limited to counterfeit items, have resulted in threatened and actual litigation from time to time by rights owners against the operators 
of other marketplaces. Plaintiffs in these and similar suits seek, among other remedies, injunctive relief and damages. Statutory 
damages for copyright or trademark violations could range up to $150,000 per copyright violation and $2,000,000 per trademark 
violation in the United States, and may be even higher in other jurisdictions.

If we become liable for information provided by our users and carried via our service in any jurisdiction in which we operate, 
we could be directly harmed and we may be forced to implement new measures to reduce our exposure to this liability. In addition, 
the increased attention focused upon liability issues as a result of these lawsuits and legislative proposals could harm our reputation 
or otherwise impact the growth of our business. Any costs incurred as a result of this potential liability could harm our business. 
In addition, negative publicity and user sentiment generated as a result of fraudulent or deceptive conduct by users of our services 
could damage our reputation, reduce our ability to attract new users or retain our current users, and diminish the value of our 
brand.

In the future, we may be required to spend substantial resources to take additional protective measures or discontinue certain 
service offerings, either of which could harm our business. Any costs incurred as a result of potential liability relating to the sale 
of unlawful services or the unlawful sale of services could harm our business.

Consumers may sue us if any of the products that our retail or other partners sell online or otherwise make available are 
defective, fail to perform properly or injure the user. Liability claims could require us to spend significant time and money in 
litigation or to pay significant damages. As a result, any such claims, whether or not successful, could seriously damage our 
financial results, reputation and brand name.
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Fraudulent or unlawful activities on our marketplace could harm our business, and could severely diminish consumer 
confidence in and use of our marketplace.

The law relating to the liability of marketplace operators is currently unsettled. We face risks with respect to fraudulent 
activities on our marketplace and periodically receive complaints from consumers who may not have received the goods or services 
that they had contracted to purchase. We may also incur losses from claims that the consumer did not authorize the purchase, from 
consumer fraud, from erroneous transmissions and from consumers who have closed bank accounts or have insufficient funds in 
them to satisfy payments they are obligated to make. Although we have implemented measures to detect and reduce the occurrence 
of fraudulent activities, combat bad consumer experiences and increase customer satisfaction, including evaluating vendors on 
the basis of their transaction history and restricting or suspending their activity where appropriate, we cannot assure you that these 
measures will be effective in combating fraudulent transactions or improving overall satisfaction among consumers and other 
participants. Additional measures to address fraud could negatively affect the attractiveness of our marketplace to consumers or 
vendors, resulting in a reduction in the ability to attract new consumers or vendors or retain current consumers or vendors, damage 
to our reputation, or a diminution in the value of our brand names. We also may be unable to prevent vendors on our marketplace 
from selling unlawful goods or services, or selling goods or services in an unlawful manner, and could face civil or criminal liability 
for unlawful activities by our vendors.

We are subject to payments-related risks.

We accept payments using a variety of methods, including credit card, debit card, credit accounts (including promotional 
financing), gift cards, direct debit from a customer’s bank account, consumer invoicing, physical bank check, and payment upon 
delivery. As we offer new payment options to our customers, we may become subject to additional regulations and compliance 
requirements (including obligations to implement enhanced authentication processes that could result in significant costs and 
reduce the ease of use of our payments products), as well as fraud. If we were found to be in violation of applicable laws or 
regulations, we could be subject to additional requirements and civil and criminal penalties, or forced to cease providing certain 
services. For certain payment methods, including credit and debit cards, we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase 
over time and raise our operating costs and lower profitability. We rely on third parties to provide certain payment methods and 
payment processing services, including the processing of credit cards, debit cards, electronic checks, and promotional financing. 
In each case, it could disrupt our business if these companies become unwilling or unable to provide these services to us.

We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, including data security rules, certification requirements, 
and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to 
comply. If we fail to comply with these rules or requirements, or if our data security systems are breached or compromised, we 
may be liable for card issuing banks’ costs, subject to fines and higher transaction fees, and lose our ability to accept credit and 
debit card payments from our customers, process electronic funds transfers, or facilitate other types of online payments, and our 
business, our reputation, our brand name, and our results of operations could be adversely affected.

We cannot assure you that our publications will be profitable.

We generate significant revenue from our magazine publishing business.  Preserving circulation is critical for maintaining 
advertising sales. Magazines face increasing competition from alternative forms of media and entertainment. As a result, sales of 
magazines through subscriptions and at the newsstand could decline, which may lead to a reduction in expenditures for magazine 
advertising and suppressed advertising rates. Many of our bridal publishing competitors have closed or reduced the frequency of 
their publications. Advertisers may choose not to reallocate their spending to other publications, or may choose to spend it in other 
media, and we cannot assure you that our publications will receive any benefit from these closures. In fact, we may face increased 
competition from the remaining bridal publications in this market. If circulation of our magazines decreases or if advertisers decide 
to spend less money or advertise elsewhere in lieu of our magazines, our business and our results of operations could be materially 
and adversely affected.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and failing to maintain and enhance our brands would hurt our business.

Our brands have contributed significantly to the success of our business. Building and maintaining the brand recognition of 
The Knot, The Bump and The Nest and our other brands is critical to attracting and expanding our base of online users and offline 
readership, advertisers, corporate customers and other partners, and increasing their engagement with our services, and will depend 
largely on our ability to maintain member trust, be a technology leader and continue to provide high-quality solutions, which we 
may not do successfully. Our brands may be negatively affected by a number of factors, including the reputation of our content 
and products and our ability to adapt to technological changes. Despite our efforts to protect and prevent misuse of our brands, if 
others misuse our brands or pass themselves off as being endorsed or affiliated with us, it could harm our reputation, and our 
business could suffer. Our brands are also important in attracting and maintaining highly qualified employees. If we fail to build 
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or maintain awareness of our brands, or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business and our results of operations 
could be materially and adversely affected.

If we cannot protect our domain names, we may not be able to promote our brands successfully.

We currently hold various web domain names, including TheKnot.com, TheBump.com, and TheNest.com, that are critical to 
the operation of our business and the promotion of our brands. The acquisition and maintenance of domain names, or Internet 
addresses, is generally regulated by governmental agencies and their designees and by trademark and other laws. The regulations 
governing domain names could change in ways that block or interfere with our ability to use relevant domains. Also, we might 
not be able to prevent third parties from registering or retaining domain names that interfere with our consumer communications, 
or infringe or otherwise decrease the value of our trademarks and other proprietary rights. Recently, regulatory bodies have approved 
expanded generic top-level domain names, which involves substantial costs and may lead to an increase in cybersquatting. 
Regulatory bodies also may establish additional generic or country-code top-level domains or modify the requirements for holding 
domain names. As a result, we may be unable to acquire or maintain relevant domain names in all countries in which we conduct 
business, which could harm our business and results of operations.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of our products, services 
and brands.

We rely on copyright, trademark, patent and other intellectual property laws to protect our rights in our proprietary technology, 
processes, designs, content and other intellectual property to the extent such protection is sought or secured at all. We also depend 
on trade secret protection through, among other things, confidentiality agreements and/or invention assignment agreements with 
our employees, licensees and others, as well as through license agreements with our licensees and other partners. We may not 
have agreements containing adequate protective provisions in every case, and the contractual provisions that are in place may not 
provide us with adequate protection in all circumstances. In addition, the steps we might otherwise take may not be adequate to 
protect against infringement and misappropriation of our intellectual property by third parties. As an example, we may be unable 
to secure patent or other intellectual property rights broad or strong enough to protect the underlying proprietary technology.

The duration of the protection afforded to our intellectual property depends on the type of property in question, the laws and 
regulations of the relevant jurisdiction and the terms of its license agreements with others. With respect to our trademarks and 
trade names, trademark laws and rights are generally territorial in scope and limited to those countries where a mark has been 
registered or protected. While trademark registrations may generally be maintained in effect for as long as the mark is in use in 
the respective jurisdictions, there may be occasions where a mark or title is not registrable or protectable or cannot be used in a 
particular country. In addition, a trademark registration may be cancelled or invalidated if challenged by others based on certain 
use requirements or other limited grounds.

Intellectual property laws afford us only limited protection. A third party may be able to develop similar or superior technology, 
processes, content or other intellectual property independently. In addition, monitoring the unauthorized use of our intellectual 
property, including our copyrights, trademarks, service marks and patents, is difficult. Third parties may register marks that are 
confusingly similar to the trademarks or services marks that we have used in the United States and our failure to monitor foreign 
registrations or mark usage may impact our rights in certain trademarks or services marks. Judicial decisions, legislation, and other 
patent and intellectual property reform efforts could also undermine the validity, scope, and enforceability of our patent and 
intellectual property holdings. The unauthorized reproduction or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights could enable 
third parties to benefit from our technology without paying us for it, diminish the value of our brands, competitive advantages or 
goodwill and result in decreased sales. If this occurs, our business and prospects would be materially and adversely affected.

Disputes concerning the ownership of our rights to use intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming to litigate, 
may distract management from other tasks of operating the business and may result in our loss of significant rights and the loss 
of our ability to operate our business. Litigation has been and may continue to be necessary to enforce our intellectual property 
rights or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others.

In addition, other parties may assert infringement claims against us or claim that we have violated a patent or infringed a 
copyright, trademark or other proprietary right belonging to them, whether on our own or by virtue of our use of certain third-
party technology. If we are subject to claims of infringement or are infringing the rights of third parties, we may not be able to 
obtain licenses to use those rights on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we might need to undertake substantial 
reengineering to continue our online offerings. Any effort to undertake such reengineering might not be successful, resulting in a 
failure to continue to provide our services or sell our products. Furthermore, a party making such a claim could secure a judgment 
that requires us to pay substantial damages. An injunction or other court order could prevent us from operating products or our 
business. Any claim of infringement, even if the claim is invalid or without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending 
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against the claim, distract our management from our business, require us to pay substantial damage awards, prevent us from selling 
our products, require the development of non-infringing software, technology, business processes, systems or other intellectual 
property (none of which might be successful), limit our ability to use the intellectual property that is the subject of any of these 
claims, unless we enter into license agreements with the third parties (which may be costly, unavailable on commercially reasonable 
terms, or not available at all), be time-consuming, result in costly settlements, litigation or restrictions on our business and damage 
our reputation. Therefore, such claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and 
financial condition.

Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the 
United States. In addition, we have not obtained copyright and trademark protection for all of our proprietary technology, processes, 
content and brands in all of the countries where we sell our products or otherwise operate. This could leave us helpless to stop 
potential infringers or possibly even unable to sell our products or provide our services in certain territories.

We may need to rely on third-party license agreements for patents and other technology related to our products and services, 
and the failure to secure such agreements could delay or prevent us from being able to commercialize our products and services.

In the future, we might need to license third-party software to enhance our products and services and meet evolving customer 
requirements. These licenses may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Some of this technology 
could be difficult to replace once integrated. The loss of, or inability to obtain, these licenses could result in delays or reductions 
of our applications until we identify, license and integrate or develop equivalent software, and new licenses could require us to 
pay higher royalties. If we are unable to successfully license and integrate third party technology, we could experience a reduction 
in functionality and/or errors or failures of our products or services, which may reduce demand for our products and services. 
Third-party licenses may expose us to increased risks, including risks associated with the integration of new technology, the impact 
of new technology integration on our existing technology, open source software disclosure risks, the diversion of resources from 
the development of our own proprietary technology, and our inability to generate revenue from new technology sufficient to offset 
associated acquisition and maintenance costs.

System disruptions, failures, or breaches in of our systems or our third-party service providers, including those resulting from 
cyber-attacks, security vulnerabilities, defects or errors, could harm our business.

The continuing, uninterrupted and secure performance of our computer systems is critical to our success. While we continue 
to expand our focus on this issue and are taking safeguarding measures, we are vulnerable to the increasing risk of cyber-attacks 
and other security incidents, such as computer viruses, denial of service attacks, phishing attacks, electronic break-ins and similar 
disruptions. Because the techniques used in cyber-attacks are becoming more sophisticated in ways that avoid detection, we or 
our service providers may not be able to anticipate, prevent, identify or adequately remediate such incidents. In addition, third 
parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees, users, or our third party service providers to disclose information in order 
to gain access to our data.  A cyber-attack or other security incident involving our or our service providers’ systems may result in 
unauthorized access, loss, or other compromise to, among other things, our data, including trade secrets, our customers’ data, 
billing data such as credit or debit card information, and any other data that is confidential or subject to applicable domestic or 
foreign privacy or security laws or regulations. If we suffer a cyber-attack or other security incident due to third party or employee 
conduct, we could be subject to lawsuits, regulatory investigations, increased costs associated with regulatory compliance and 
systems remediation, investigations and fines by payment card companies, harm to our brand and reputation, disruption in our 
ability to provide our services, any of which could reduce revenue, increase costs, and materially harm our business and results 
of operations. Although we carry general liability insurance, our insurance may not cover any claims by dissatisfied advertisers 
or customers and may not be adequate to indemnify us for any costs or liability that may be imposed on us as a result of any system 
disruptions, failures, cyber-attacks, security breaches or other compromise or to our ability to provide various services to our 
customers and users.

Our business depends on third-party service providers who support important aspects of our various services.

If any of our service providers fail to provide reliable and secure software, systems and services to us, we would need to 
pursue alternative sources of services, and while alternatives are available, we may be unable to secure such services on a timely 
basis or on terms favorable to us. Our advertisers, users and members may become dissatisfied by any systems disruption, failure, 
cyber-attacks or security incidents that interrupt our ability to provide services and content to them in a timely or secure manner 
whether it involves our systems or those of our service providers. Substantial or repeated system disruptions, prolonged failures 
or delays, or significant cyber-attacks or security incidents, would reduce the attractiveness of our online sites and services. All 
of the forgoing could result in increased costs to us, decreased demand for our websites and services, damage to our reputation 
and customer relationships, and expose us to lawsuits and regulatory investigations.
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Privacy concerns relating to our technology could damage our reputation and deter current and potential users from using 
our products and services.

We currently face a myriad of U.S. federal and state statutory and regulatory rules regarding the collection, use, transfer, and 
retention of personal information and other data privacy and security issues. These laws and regulations continue to be in a state 
of flux and are expanding. In addition, because our services are accessible worldwide, certain foreign jurisdictions may claim that 
we are required to comply with their laws, even if we don’t have a local entity, employees or infrastructure. In general, foreign 
data protection, privacy, and other laws and regulations are more restrictive than those in the United States. As in the U.S., the 
substance and applicability of such laws in Europe and other foreign jurisdictions are subject to continued development and 
interpretation by agencies and courts. For example, the European Union and many countries within the European Union have 
adopted and are developing data privacy protection and security directives relating to the collection, use, storage and transfer of 
data that are more stringent than in the United States.  In addition, the application, interpretation, and enforcement of these laws 
and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in our rapidly-evolving industry, and may be interpreted and applied inconsistently 
from country to country and inconsistently with our current policies and practices.

The cost of compliance with any applicable laws could be material, and we may not be able to comply with them in a timely 
or cost-effective manner, if at all. Compliance with any applicable laws could also delay or impede the development of new 
products or services, result in negative publicity and damage to our brand an reputation, increase our operating costs, require 
significant management time and attention, or subject us to inquiries or investigations, claims or other remedies, including fines 
or demands that we modify or cease existing business practices. In addition, changes to existing laws or the passage of new laws 
could create uncertainty in the marketplace that could reduce demand for our services or increase the cost of doing business as a 
result of litigation costs or increased service delivery costs or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

In addition, privacy concerns in general may cause visitors to avoid online sites like ours that collect and use information, for 
purposes such as behavioral targeted advertising, and even the perception of privacy or security concerns, whether or not valid, 
may inhibit market acceptance of our services. In addition, if our privacy practices are deemed unacceptable by watchdog groups 
or privacy advocates, such groups may attempt to harm our business by blocking access to our sites or disparaging our reputation 
and our business and may have a material effect on our results of operations and financial condition. We may also be subject to 
claims of liability or responsibility for the actions of third parties with whom we interact or upon whom we rely in relation to 
various services, including but not limited to vendors and business partners. These third parties may be vulnerable to privacy 
violations, and threats, such as computer hacking, cyber-terrorism or other unauthorized attempts to access, modify or delete our 
or our customers' information or business assets that they service or maintain on our behalf. The foregoing could have a material 
effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our business is subject to the risks of natural catastrophic events and to interruption by man-made problems such as terrorism 
or computer viruses.

Our business operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption from power losses, telecommunications failures, terrorist 
attacks, acts of war, human errors, break-ins earthquakes, fires, floods, and similar events. Any of these events could have a material 
adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition, data and reputation, and our insurance coverage may 
be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. In addition, acts of terrorism could cause disruptions in our business 
or the economy as a whole. Our principal executive offices are located in New York City, a region that has experienced acts of 
terrorism in the past. Our servers may also be vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized 
tampering with our computer systems, which could lead to interruptions, delays, loss of critical data or the unauthorized disclosure 
of confidential customer data. Although we have disaster recovery capabilities, we cannot assure you that we will not suffer from 
business interruption as a result of any such events, and any such event could also result in large expenditures necessary to repair 
or replace such networks or information systems or to protect them from similar events in the future. As we rely heavily on our 
servers, computer and communications systems and the Internet to conduct our business and provide high-quality service to our 
customers, such disruptions could negatively impact our ability to run our business, result in loss of existing or potential customers 
and increased maintenance costs, which would adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on our personnel and, if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel or hire qualified personnel, we may not be 
able to grow effectively.

Competition for personnel in the digital, mobile and media industries is intense. We may be unable to retain employees who 
are important to the success of our business, in particular, members of our senior management team. We may also face difficulties 
attracting, integrating or retaining other highly qualified employees in the future. Any loss or interruption of the services of one 
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or more of our key personnel or our inability to attract new personnel could result in us being unable to manage our operations 
effectively and/or to pursue our business strategy.

We depend on our management team. Loss of any key member of that team may prevent us from executing our business plan 
in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon our ability to attract and retain executive officers and other key personnel, including senior 
creative, technical, operational and finance executives. If our management team, including any new hires, fails to work together 
effectively and to execute our plans and strategies on a timely basis, or if we fail to successfully integrate newly-hired executives 
or senior managers, our business could be harmed. We cannot assure you that if we were to experience a high degree of management 
change in the future, we would be able to replace departing members of management in a timely manner or successfully integrate 
newly-hired executives or senior managers.

Our business could be adversely affected if we are not able to integrate any future acquisitions successfully or operate 
successfully under our strategic partnerships.

In the past, we have completed numerous acquisitions and investments in other companies, as well as strategic partnerships. 
In the future, we may acquire, or invest in, complementary companies, products or technologies or enter into new strategic 
partnerships. Acquisitions, investments and partnerships involve numerous risks, including:

• difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, products and personnel;
• diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;
• operating under commercial agreements entered into by an acquisition target;
• risks of entering new markets;
• potential loss of key employees; and
• inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition or investment costs.

To pay for an acquisition or to enter into a strategic alliance, we might use equity securities, debt, cash, or a combination of 
the foregoing. If we use equity securities, our existing stockholders may experience dilution. Any such acquisitions or strategic 
alliances may require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on commercially acceptable 
terms, if at all.

Impairment charges related to assets may have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

We have several investments and intangible assets that, depending upon competitive and economic conditions, could become 
impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. In the past we have recorded charges against our 
earnings for amortization of intangibles with a definite life, as well as impairment charges on certain intangible assets with indefinite 
lives and investments, and we may be required to take other charges, including write-downs of significant amounts, in the future. 
Our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by such charges.

Our effective tax rate is subject to significant fluctuations, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Our effective tax rate could fluctuate significantly and could be adversely affected to the extent earnings are lower than 
anticipated in states where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in states where we have higher statutory 
tax rates. Our effective tax rate could also fluctuate due to changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities or 
changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations thereof. These fluctuations in our effective tax rate, 
including the impact of adverse outcomes from tax audits by domestic and foreign tax authorities, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our business is subject to government regulation and legal uncertainties related to doing business online, and may become 
subject to more burdensome regulations and oversight.

Laws and regulations directly applicable to Internet communications, privacy, cybersecurity, and transactions and advertising 
continue to become more prevalent. Laws and regulations may be adopted covering issues such as user privacy, freedom of 
expression, pricing, unsolicited commercial e-mail (spam), content, taxation, quality of services and products, consumer protection, 
advertising, intellectual property rights and information security. Any new legislation could hinder the growth in use of the Internet 
and other online services generally and decrease the acceptance of the Internet and other online services as media for 
communications, transactions and advertising. In addition, the laws governing the Internet remain largely unsettled, even in areas 
where legislation has been enacted. Whether and how existing laws such as those governing intellectual property, privacy, libel 
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and taxation apply to the Internet and digital advertising and transactional services is still being determined. The adoption or 
modification of laws or regulations relating to the Internet and other online services could cause our advertising revenue and 
transactions revenue to decline and our business and prospects to suffer.

Regulators and industry groups have also released self-regulatory principles and guidelines for various data privacy and 
security practices. Interpretation of these laws and guidelines and their application to online services in the U.S. and foreign 
jurisdictions is ongoing, and cannot be fully determined at this time. These principles and guidelines could be interpreted or applied 
in a manner that is not consistent with our current business practices, which could cause significant negative publicity, require us 
to incur substantial compliance costs, and subject us to inquiries or investigations, claims or other remedies, including fines or 
demands that we modify or cease existing business practices, and otherwise materially affect our business. It is also possible that 
new laws or regulations may be adopted, which could harm our business.

Due to the global nature of the Internet, it is possible that, although our U.S. assets and transmissions currently originate in 
New York, the governments of other states or foreign countries might attempt to regulate our business, services, transmissions, 
data collection or levy sales, or other taxes, or impose other requirements or restrictions relating to our activities. The uncertain 
nature of existing and proposed rules and regulations around the world could substantially impair the growth of 
transactions, seriously harm our profitability, and result in our inability to enforce contracts or otherwise run our business.

We could face additional regulatory requirements, tax liabilities and other risks related to our continuing operations in China 
and Hong Kong, and other markets outside the United States where we may commence operations.

We have continuing operations in China and Hong Kong. There are risks related to doing business in international markets 
in general, such as:

• different user preferences and requirements in specific international markets;
• difficulties in staffing and managing our current and future foreign operations;
• challenges caused by language, cultural differences and by doing business with foreign agencies and governments;
• changes in regulatory requirements and uncertainty regarding liability for services and content, including data privacy 

and cybersecurity issues;
• tariffs and other trade barriers;
• fluctuations in currency exchange rates and foreign exchange controls that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned 

in countries outside the U.S.;
• adverse tax consequences;
• stringent local labor laws and regulations;
• longer payment cycles;
• credit risk and higher levels of payment fraud;
• political or social unrest or economic instability; and
• seasonal volatility in business activity.

One or more of these factors could harm our current or future international operations.

In addition, compliance with complex foreign and U.S. laws and regulations that apply to our international operations increases 
our cost of doing business and could interfere with our ability to offer, or prevent us from offering, our products and services to 
one or more countries or expose us or our employees to fines and penalties. These numerous and sometimes conflicting laws and 
regulations include import and export requirements, content requirements, trade restrictions, tax laws, sanctions, internal and 
disclosure control rules, data privacy and security requirements, restrictions on the collection and use of consumer data, labor 
relations laws, U.S. laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to governmental 
officials. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our officers, or our employees, 
prohibitions on the conduct of our business, and damage to our reputation. Although we have implemented policies and procedures 
designed to address these laws, we cannot assure you that our employees, contractors, or agents will not violate our policies or 
any applicable laws or regulations. Any such violations could include prohibitions on our ability to offer our products and services 
to one or more countries, and could also materially damage our reputation, our brand, our ability to expand our international 
operations, our ability to attract and retain employees, our business, and our results of operations, and could expose us to lawsuits 
and regulatory investigations.

In addition to the risks associated with our continuing operations in China and Hong Kong, on December 30, 2014, we 
completed the disposition of our Ijie operations; while we experienced cost savings as a result of this disposition, any benefits we 
receive may be offset by contingent liabilities or additional tax obligations associated with this disposition. For example, if third 
parties seek to hold us responsible for the liabilities of the Ijie operations, or if any disputes arise between us and the purchasers 
of the Ijie operations, our business could be harmed.
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It is possible that we may not be able to obtain additional financing necessary to execute our business strategy.

We currently believe that our current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements for the foreseeable future. Our ability to meet our obligations in the ordinary course of business is 
dependent upon our ability to maintain profitable operations and/or raise additional financing through public or private equity or 
debt financings, or other arrangements with corporate sources or other sources of financing to fund operations. However, there is 
no assurance that we will maintain profitable operations or that additional funding, if required, will be available to us in amounts 
or on terms acceptable to us.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price has been, and will likely continue to be, highly volatile and subject to significant price and volume fluctuations.

In the recent past, the equity trading markets have experienced, and may continue to experience, significant periods of volatility, 
resulting in highly variable and unpredictable pricing of equity securities. The market price of our common stock could change 
in ways that may or may not be related to our business, our industry or our operating performance and financial condition. In 
addition, the trading volume in our common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Our common 
stock has experienced significant volume and price fluctuations in the past. Our current market price and valuation may not be 
sustainable. If the market price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your common stock at or 
above your purchase price. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been the 
object of securities class action litigation. If we were to become the subject of securities class action litigation, we could face 
substantial costs and be negatively affected by diversion of our management’s attention and resources. We cannot assure you that 
the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly, including a decline below your purchase price, 
in the future. In addition, the stock markets in general can experience considerable price and volume fluctuations, which could 
result in substantial losses for our stockholders.

Future sales of shares of our common stock, or the perception that these shares might be sold, could adversely affect the market 
price of our common stock.

In the past, we have filed shelf registration statements with the SEC covering re-sales of shares of our common stock by 
institutional investors who purchased our shares in private placements. Certain future holders of our common stock may be granted 
rights to participate in, or require us to file, registration statements for re-sales of common stock, and we may complete public 
offerings of shares or issue shares pursuant to acquisitions that are freely tradable.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, that future sales of shares of our common stock into the market, or the availability of 
shares of common stock for future sale, will have on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of 
common stock (including shares issued upon the exercise of outstanding stock options or vesting of restricted stock), or the 
perception that such sales could occur, may materially and adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could deter takeover attempts, which could adversely 
affect the price of our common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire 
us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. We may issue shares of preferred stock in the future without stockholder 
approval and upon such terms as our board of directors may determine. Our issuance of this preferred stock could have the effect 
of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, a majority of our outstanding 
stock and potentially prevent the payment of a premium to stockholders in an acquisition. In addition, our certificate of incorporation 
includes provisions giving the board the exclusive right to fill all board vacancies, providing for a classified board of directors 
and permitting removal of directors only for cause and with a super-majority vote of the stockholders.

These provisions also could discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect 
directors and take other corporate actions. As a result, these provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, 
even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, and may limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future for shares 
of our common stock.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to certain Delaware anti-takeover provisions. Under Delaware law, a corporation 
may not engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its outstanding voting stock unless the holder has 
held the stock for three years or, among other things, the board of directors has approved the transaction. Our board of directors 
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could rely on Delaware law to prevent or delay an acquisition of us. This could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to 
receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company or may otherwise discourage a potential acquirer from 
attempting to obtain control from us, either of which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common 
stock.

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock in the past.

In the past, we have retained all earnings and other cash resources for the future operation and development of our business. 
Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account many factors, including 
our results of operations, financial conditions, current and anticipated cash needs and plans for expansion. Accordingly, if we do 
not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the future, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after 
price appreciation, which may not occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.

Our executive officers and directors, and stockholders that owned greater than 5% of our common stock, exercise significant 
control over all matters requiring a stockholder vote.

As of March 1, 2016, our executive officers and directors, and stockholders that owned greater than 5% of our common stock, 
and their affiliates, in the aggregate, beneficially owned approximately 24.1% of our outstanding common stock. As a result, if 
some or all of these parties act as a group, they would be able to significantly influence matters requiring approval by our 
stockholders, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership 
could also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties

The following table sets forth the location, primary use and size of our properties as of December 31, 2015, all of which are 
leased. The leases expire at various times through 2022, subject to renewal options. We believe that our existing facilities are 
suitable for our current needs.

Location Use

Approximate
Square
Footage Lease Expiration

New York, New York Principal executive office 64,000 August 2022
Omaha, Nebraska Local sales and operations 16,000 January 2021
Guangzhou, China Technology development 9,200 April 2016
Austin, Texas Information technology 9,000 December 2018
South Norwalk, Connecticut Local sales and operations 4,356 September 2016
Los Angeles, California National sales 760 January 2018
Wanchai, Hong Kong Technology management 350 January 2017
Chicago, Illinois National sales 140 February 2017

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are engaged in legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business and do not believe that the ultimate outcome of 
these actions will have a material effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock currently trades under the symbol "XOXO" on the New York Stock Exchange. The table sets forth, for 
the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low
2014:      

First quarter $ 15.09 $ 8.82
Second quarter $ 12.50 $ 9.94
Third quarter $ 13.07 $ 10.94
Fourth quarter $ 18.60 $ 10.99

2015:      
First quarter $ 18.37 $ 14.58
Second quarter $ 17.91 $ 15.83
Third quarter $ 16.68 $ 13.55
Fourth quarter $ 17.21 $ 13.82

On December 31, 2015, the last reported sales price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $16.06. On 
March 1, 2016, the last reported sales price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $14.21.

Holders

As of March 1, 2016, there were approximately 220 holders of record of our common stock. This does not include the number 
of persons whose stock is in nominee or “street name” accounts through brokers.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be 
at the discretion of our board of directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

(a)
Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs (b)

Approximate
Dollar Value of

Shares That May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans
or Programs (c)

October 1 to October 31, 2015 2,502 $ 14.35 — $ 9,564,303
November 1 to November 30, 2015 14,965 $ 16.93 — $ 9,564,303
December 1 to December 31, 2015 2,394 $ 16.71 — $ 9,564,303

Total 19,861 $ 16.58 —
_____________

(a) The terms of some awards granted under certain of our stock incentive plans allow participants to surrender or deliver 
shares of XO Group's common stock to us to pay for the exercise price of those awards or to satisfy tax withholding 
obligations related to the exercise or vesting of those awards. The shares listed in the table above represent the surrender 
or delivery of shares to us in connection with such exercise price payments or tax withholding obligations. For purposes 
of this table, the "price paid per share" is determined by reference to the closing sales price per share of XO Group's 
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of such surrender or delivery (or on the last date preceding 
such surrender or delivery for which such reported price exists).
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(b), (c) On April 10, 2013, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to $20.0 million of 
our common stock from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The repurchase program 
may be suspended or discontinued at any time, but it does not have an expiration date. As of December 31, 2015, we 
have repurchased a total of 634,479 shares of our common stock under this program for $10.4 million.

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the yearly change in cumulative total stockholder return on XO Group’s common stock with the 
cumulative total return of (1) the NASDAQ Composite Index, (2) the NYSE Composite Index, and (3) the Russell 2000 Index. 
Our stock was listed on the NASDAQ Global Market until June 27, 2011, when we transferred the listing to the New York Stock 
Exchange. We compare the total return on our common stock with the Russell 2000 Index because we do not believe we can 
reasonably identify a peer group consisting of issuers similar to XO Group for purposes of the stock performance comparison.

Beginning in fiscal year 2015, we are using the NYSE Composite Index, rather than the NASDAQ Market Index that we 
used in prior years, due to the listing of our stock on the NYSE. For this Annual Report, we have included both the NYSE Composite 
Index and the NASDAQ Composite Index.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our previous or future filings under the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that might incorporate by reference this Annual Report on Form 
10-K or future filings made by XO Group under those statutes, the Stock Performance Graph is not deemed filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, is not deemed soliciting material and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of those 
prior filings or into any future filings made by XO Group under those statutes, except to the extent that XO Group specifically 
incorporates such information by reference into a previous or future filing, or specifically requests that such information be treated 
as soliciting material, in each case under those statutes.
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 Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and the selected balance 
sheet data as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 have been derived from our audited financial statements included 
elsewhere herein. The selected statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the selected 
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 have been derived from our audited financial statements not included 
herein. You should read these selected financial data in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," our financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere 
herein.

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
   (In Thousands, Except for per Share Data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:               
Net revenue:               

Online advertising $101,705 $ 89,549 $ 81,661 $ 76,475 $ 70,067
Transactions 14,700 10,370 7,926 6,231 6,398
Merchandise 878 15,908 18,406 21,359 25,420
Publishing and other 24,361 27,837 25,821 25,066 22,372

Total net revenues 141,644 143,664 133,814 129,131 124,257
Gross profit 131,257 122,469 111,413 106,529 99,171
Operating expenses(a) 114,021 113,572 98,906 92,280 89,092
Income from operations(a) 17,236 8,897 12,507 14,249 10,079
Net income(b);(c) 5,464 462 5,794 8,649 5,988
Plus: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — 65 52
Net income attributable to XO Group Inc. $ 5,464 $ 462 $ 5,794 $ 8,714 $ 6,040
Net income per share attributable to XO Group Inc.
common stockholders:
Basic $ 0.22 $ 0.02 $ 0.24 $ 0.35 $ 0.21
Diluted $ 0.21 $ 0.02 $ 0.23 $ 0.35 $ 0.20
Weighted average number of shares used in calculating
earnings per share
Basic(d) 25,164 25,210 24,620 24,649 29,060
Diluted(d) 25,530 25,589 25,596 25,218 29,692
Consolidated Percentage of Total Net Revenue Data:
Net revenue:

Online advertising 71.8% 62.3% 61.0% 59.3% 56.4%
Transactions 10.4% 7.2% 5.9% 4.8% 5.1%
Merchandise 0.6% 11.1% 13.8% 16.5% 20.5%
Publishing and other 17.2% 19.4% 19.3% 19.4% 18.0%

Gross margin 92.7% 85.2% 83.3% 82.5% 79.8%
Operating expenses 80.5% 79.1% 73.9% 71.5% 71.7%
Operating margin 12.2% 6.2% 9.3% 11.0% 8.1%
Net income 3.9% 0.3% 4.3% 6.7% 4.9%
Net income attributable to XO Group Inc. 3.9% 0.3% 4.3% 6.7% 4.9%
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As of December 31,
   2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
   (In Thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:               

Cash, cash equivalents and investments(d) $ 88,509 $ 89,955 $ 90,697 $ 77,407 $ 77,376
Working capital(d) 83,522 84,789 86,875 74,297 81,816
Total assets(d) 196,741 193,582 193,242 183,354 188,312
Stockholders' equity(d) 159,467 157,926 155,890 144,507 150,343
Noncontrolling interest — — — — 536
Total equity(d) 159,467 157,926 155,890 144,507 150,879

___________

(a) Impairment charges of $0.3 million, $0.8 million and $1.4 million were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013 for certain intangible assets. 

(b) In 2015, amounts include impairment charge of $4.0 million of cost method investments. In 2014 and 2013, amounts include 
executive separation and other severance charges.

(c) Includes $3.2 million of a loss on disposition of our Ijie operations during 2014, including $1.4 million of tax expense.
(d) Reference is made to Note 8: Capital Stock in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements on this Form 10-K, for further 

details addressing the stock repurchases made during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013. Additional stock 
repurchases, authorized by our Board of Directors, were made in 2011 including a privately negotiated stock purchase transaction 
with Macy's, Inc. This stock repurchase activity was the primary driver for the decreases in cash (and therefore, working capital 
and total assets), stockholders' equity, total equity and weighted average shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 
2011.   
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related 
notes included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements relating to future events and the 
future performance of XO Group based on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about us and our 
industry. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results or events could differ materially from 
those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, as more fully described in this section and 
elsewhere in this report. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, even if 
new information becomes available or other events occur in the future.

Executive Overview

The year ended December 31, 2015 was a transitional year following the decision to exit our Ijie operations, a process that 
was completed in December 2014, and our decision to exit our merchandise operations, a process that was completed during the 
first quarter of 2015. These actions caused our total revenue to decrease in 2015 compared to 2014, but increased the focus on our 
core businesses and growth initiatives. Expense savings from the exit of our Ijie and merchandise operations were reinvested in 
all areas of the business, with a particular focus on investments that enhance our marketplace, in order to connect couples to 
vendors and services they need to execute their perfect day and drive more audience and vendor engagement. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, revenue decreased 1.4% to $141.6 million. In the first quarter of 2015, we exited 
our merchandising operations, which generated $15.9 million of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014. Excluding revenue 
from our merchandising operations, revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased 10.2%, driven by double digit growth 
in our online advertising and transactions revenue. The increases in online advertising and transactions revenue were partially 
offset by a decline in our publishing and other revenue. Gross margin improved 7.5% to 92.7% due to growth in high margin 
online and transaction revenue and the impact of exiting our lower margin merchandising operations. 

Our income before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $6.8 million to $13.7 million.  Items affecting 
comparability during the year ended December 31, 2015 include (i) $4.3 million impairment expenses primarily associated with 
our investment in Touch Media, (ii) $0.8 million gain on our existing investment in GigMasters as part of the acquisition of 100% 
of GigMasters, and (iii) $0.4 million of costs associated with exiting our merchandising operations.  Items affecting comparability 
during the year ended December 31, 2014 include (i) $0.5 million of asset impairment expenses (ii) $2.1 million of executive 
separation expenses, (iii) $1.8 million loss associated with exiting our Ijie operations (iv) $0.6 million of costs associated with 
exiting our merchandising operations, and (v) a favorable adjustment for foreign value-added tax, interest, and penalties of $0.6 
million. Excluding the items affecting comparability, our adjusted income before income taxes increased $6.3 million (55.7%) to 
$17.7 million and our Adjusted EBITDA increased $4.9 million (19.8%) to $29.5 million driven by growth in our online advertising 
and transactions gross profit, partially offset by investments in our product and content efforts. 

Our financial condition remains strong with $88.5 million of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2015 and no debt. 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, (i) we generated cash from operations totaling $20.5 million, (ii) we repurchased $8.8 
million of common stock as part of a $20.0 million share repurchase authorization and (iii) we paid $(8.1) million for certain 
investments, including $5.6 million to acquire the remaining 71% of GigMasters, a marketplace for party planners and hosts to 
find entertainment and event services. 

Performance Indicators

We evaluate our operating and financial performance using various performance indicators. Our management relies on the 
key performance indicators set forth below to help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, measure the effectiveness of our 
sales and marketing efforts and assess operational efficiencies. We discuss revenue and gross margin under Results of Operations, 
and cash flow results under Liquidity and Capital Resources. Other measures of our performance, including adjusted EBITDA, 
Adjusted net income and Free cash flow are defined and discussed under Non-GAAP Financial Measures below.
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Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)

Total net revenue $ 141,644 $ 143,664 $ 133,814
Total gross margin (a) 92.7% 85.2% 83.3%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 29,472 $ 24,602 $ 26,722
Adjusted net income $ 10,601 $ 6,526 $ 8,920
Free cash flow $ 16,999 $ 14,947 $ 16,275
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 $ 88,509 $ 89,955 $ 90,697
Total employees at December 31(b) 660 641 705

(a) The increase in total gross margin from 2014 to 2015 was driven by our decision to exit our lower gross margin merchandising operations.
(b) Reduction in employees in 2014 is a result of the exit of our Ijie operations.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This Form 10-K includes information about certain financial measures that are not prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP” or “U.S. GAAP”), including adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income, adjusted net income 
per diluted share and free cash flow. These non-GAAP measures have important limitations as analytical tools and should not be 
considered in isolation or as substitutes for an analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Our use of these terms may 
vary from the use of similarly-titled measures by others in our industry due to the potential inconsistencies in the method of 
calculation and differences due to items subject to interpretation.

Management defines its non-GAAP financial measures as follows:

• Adjusted EBITDA represents GAAP net income (loss) adjusted to exclude, if applicable: (1) income tax expense (benefit), 
(2) depreciation and amortization, (3) stock-based compensation expense, (4) asset impairment charges, (5) loss in equity 
interests, (6) interest and other income (expense), net, and (7) other items affecting comparability during the period.

• Adjusted net income represents GAAP net income (loss), adjusted for items that impact comparability for incremental 
or unusual costs incurred in the current period, which may include: (1) for asset impairment charges, (2) executive 
separation and other severance charges, (3) non-recurring foreign taxes, interest and penalties, (4) costs related to exit 
activities, and (5) and discrete tax items.

• Adjusted net income per diluted share represents adjusted net income (as defined above), divided by the diluted weighted-
average number of shares outstanding for the period.

• Free cash flow represents GAAP net cash provided by operations, less capital expenditures.

Management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures, when viewed with our results under U.S. GAAP and the 
accompanying reconciliations, provide useful information about our period-over-period growth and provide additional information 
that is useful for evaluating our operating performance. However, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income (loss), adjusted net 
income (loss) per diluted share and free cash flow are not measures of financial performance under U.S. GAAP and, accordingly, 
should not be considered substitutes for or superior to net income (loss), net income (loss) per diluted share and net cash provided 
by operating activities as indicators of operating performance. 
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The table below provides reconciliations between the non-GAAP financial measures discussed above to the comparable U.S. 
GAAP measures (in thousands, except for per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013

GAAP Non-GAAP GAAP Non-GAAP GAAP Non-GAAP

Net
Income Adj.

Adj. Net
Income Adj.

Adj.
EBITDA

Net
Income Adj.

Adj. Net
Income Adj.

Adj.
EBITDA

Net
Income Adj.

Adj. Net
Income Adj.

Adj.
EBITDA

$ 5,464 $ 5,137 $ 10,601 $ 18,871 $ 29,472 $ 462 $ 6,064 $ 6,526 $ 18,076 $ 24,602 $ 5,794 $ 3,126 $ 8,920 $ 17,802 $ 26,722

4,000
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c
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930
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h

(765)
d

245
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530
c

232
i

350
p

2,016
i

1,202
e

23
j

(592)
m

(88)
j

(1,357)
e

(1,773)
n

(144)
j

$ 5,137 $ 18,871 $ 6,064 $ 18,076 $ 3,126 $ 17,802

Amounts per Share - Diluted

$ 0.21 $ 0.21 $ 0.42 $ 0.02 $ 0.24 $ 0.26 $ 0.23 $ 0.12 $ 0.35

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding - Diluted

25,530 25,530 25,530 25,589 25,589 25,589 25,596 25,596 25,596

Free Cash Flow

2015 2014 2013

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 20,548 $ 20,015 $ 22,243

Less: capital expenditures (3,549) (5,068) (5,968)

Free cash flow $ 16,999 $ 14,947 $ 16,275

(a) To eliminate Touch Media impairment expense, included in Interest and other income (expense), net.
(b) To eliminate costs associated with the exit of our merchandising operations, including (i) severance of approximately $0.2 million recorded 

in general and administrative and (ii) rent acceleration and other closure costs of $0.2 million recorded in sales and marketing.
(c) To eliminate impairment charges included in Asset Impairment Charges.
(d) To eliminate a gain on our existing equity method investment in GigMasters, included in Gain (Loss) in Equity Interests.
(e) To adjust income tax expense to our effective tax rate, excluding discrete items, of 40.0%, 42.5% and 41.0%, for the years ended December 

31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
(f) To eliminate adjusted income tax expense.
(g) To eliminate stock-based compensation expense.
(h) To eliminate depreciation and amortization expense.
(i) To eliminate (gain) loss in equity interests.
(j) To eliminate interest and other income, net.
(k) To eliminate costs associated with the exit of our merchandise and Ijie operations, including (i) $1.8 million loss on the disposition of our 

Ijie operations, included in Interest and Other Income (Expense), net, (ii) severance of approximately $0.3 million related to the closure of 
our merchandise operations and (iii) asset impairment charges of approximately $0.3 million. Of the total severance charges, $26,000 was 
recorded in product and content development, $179,000 in sales and marketing and $60,000 in general and administrative.

(l) To eliminate executive separation and severance charges, including (i) separation payments for certain executive officers and (ii) severance 
charges for the employees in our Los Angeles office. Of the total executive separation and severance charges, $0.4 million was recorded in 
product and content development, $0.5 million in sales and marketing and $1.2 million in general and administrative.

(m) To eliminate a favorable adjustment for foreign value-added tax ("VAT"), interest and penalties of $0.6 million, included in general and 
administrative.

(n) To eliminate impairment of equity interest of $1.8 million included in Gain (loss) in Equity Interests.
(o) To eliminate an unfavorable adjustment for VAT, interest and penalties of $0.9 million, include in general and administrative.
(p) To eliminate $0.4 million of severance charges for a former executive of our company, included in general and administrative.
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Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014 

The following table summarizes results of operations for 2015 compared to 2014:

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 Increase/(Decrease)

   Amount
% of Net
Revenue Amount

% of Net
Revenue Amount %

   (Dollars in Thousands, Except for per Share Data)
Net revenue $ 141,644 100.0% $ 143,664 100.0% $ (2,020) (1.4)%
Cost of revenue 10,387 7.3 21,195 14.8 (10,808) (51.0)
Gross profit 131,257 92.7 122,469 85.2 8,788 7.2
Operating expenses 114,021 80.5 113,572 79.0 449 0.4
Income from operations 17,236 12.2 8,897 6.2 8,339 93.7
Gain (loss) in equity interests 520 0.3 (232) (0.2) 752 324.1
Interest and other expense, net (4,023) (2.8) (1,740) (1.2) (2,283) 131.2
Income before income taxes 13,733 9.7 6,925 4.8 6,808 98.3
Income tax expense 8,269 5.8 6,463 4.5 1,806 27.9
Net income $ 5,464 3.9% $ 462 0.3% $ 5,002 NM
Net income per share:               
Basic $ 0.22 $ 0.02 $ 0.20 NM
Diluted $ 0.21 $ 0.02 $ 0.19 NM

Net Revenue

The following table sets forth revenue by category for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2014, the percentage increase or decrease between those periods, and the percentage of total net revenue that each 
category represented for those periods:

Year Ended December 31,

   Net Revenue Percentage
Increase/

(Decrease)

Percentage of
Total Net Revenue

   2015 2014 2015 2014
   (In Thousands)
National online advertising $ 35,764 $ 30,456 17.4 % 25.2% 21.2%
Local online advertising 65,941 59,093 11.6 46.6 41.1
Total online advertising 101,705 89,549 13.6 71.8 62.3
Transactions 14,700 10,370 41.8 10.4 7.2
Merchandise 878 15,908 (94.5) 0.6 11.1
Publishing and other 24,361 27,837 (12.5) 17.2 19.4
Total net revenue $ 141,644 $ 143,664 (1.4)% 100.0% 100.0%

Online advertising — Revenue from national online advertising increased 17.4% driven primarily by a 25.3% growth in 
advertising on TheBump.com and a 11.7% growth in advertising on TheKnot.com and our other wedding properties.

Local online advertising revenue increased 11.6%, attributable to an increase in the number of TheKnot.com local vendors 
advertising with us on our network of websites as a result of new vendors and increased customer retention rates. During the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2015, TheKnot.com had an average of 24,340 local paying vendors compared to an average 
of 22,694 local paying vendors during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.



27

Transactions — Revenue from transactions increased 41.8%, primarily driven by a 27.8% increase in revenue related to guest 
purchase conversions with our retail partners. Increases in guest purchases were driven by an increased number of events with 
registries and guest user engagement with our registry aggregation pages.  Additionally, transactions revenue includes commission 
revenue generated via our GigMasters brand, a company we acquired on October 1, 2015.

Merchandise — Revenue from merchandising operations decreased 94.5%, resulting from the exit of our warehouse 
operations in Redding, California in the first quarter of 2015.

Publishing and other — Revenue from publishing and other decreased 12.5%, primarily driven by a decrease in advertising 
revenue related to The Knot national and The Bump magazines. In June 2015, we decided to discontinue the publication of The 
Bump print magazine. The last issue of The Bump magazine was distributed in December 2015.

Gross Profit/Gross Margin

The following table presents the components of gross profit and gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2014:

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 Increase/(Decrease)

  
Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin %

Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin %

Gross
Profit %

   (Dollars in Thousands)
Online advertising
(national and local) $ 99,470 97.8% $ 87,779 98.0% $ 11,691 13.3%
Transactions 14,700 100.0 10,370 100.0 4,330 41.8
Merchandise (3) (0.3) 4,994 31.4 (4,997) (100.1)
Publishing and other 17,090 70.2 19,326 69.4 (2,236) (11.6)
Total gross profit $ 131,257 92.7% $ 122,469 85.2% $ 8,788 7.2%

Gross margin improved 7.5% to 92.7% compared to 85.2% in 2014. The increase in the total gross margin percentage was 
primarily attributable to our exit our lower gross margin merchandising operations in 2015 as well as increases in revenue for the 
two lines of business that have the highest gross margins, specifically online advertising and transactions services.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased 0.4% to $114.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. We reinvested savings from the 
exit of our merchandising operations and the sale of Ijie operations primarily in our marketplace initiatives through product and 
content, general and administrative, and sales and marketing spending.
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The following table presents the components of operating expenses and the percentage of net revenue that each component 
represented for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014:

Year Ended December 31,

   Operating Expenses Percentage
Increase/

(Decrease)

Percentage of
Total Net Revenue

   2015 2014 2015 2014
   (In Thousands)
Product and content development $ 40,351 $ 35,820 12.6% 28.5% 24.9%
Sales and marketing 43,420 44,330 (2.1) 30.7 30.9
General and administrative 24,440 25,617 (4.6) 17.3 17.8
Asset impairment charges 266 836 (68.2) 0.2 0.6
Depreciation and amortization 5,544 6,969 (20.4) 3.8 4.9
Total operating expenses $ 114,021 $ 113,572 0.4% 80.5% 79.1%

Product and Content Development — Our product and content development expenses primarily consist of salaries, benefits 
and stock-based compensation for our engineers, product managers, developers and editors. In addition, product and content 
development expenses include outside services and consulting, as well as costs associated with the maintenance of our website 
and data servers. 

The 2015 increase of 12.6% was primarily attributable to an increase in employee headcount, consultants, and related expenses 
as a result of our initiatives in product and technology development to create new products and features that create value for our 
audience, partially offset by savings related to the exit of our Ijie and merchandising operations. 

Sales and Marketing — Our sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation, 
travel expense and incentive compensation for our sales and marketing employees. In addition, sales and marketing expenses 
include branding, consumer marketing and public relations costs. 

The 2015 decrease of 2.1% was primarily attributable to savings from the exit of our Ijie operations in December of 2014 and 
the exit of our merchandise facility during the first quarter of 2015. These savings were partially offset by increased commissions 
as a result of our increased revenue, along with marketing and sales initiatives related to our product efforts.

General and Administrative — Our general and administrative expenses primarily consist of salaries, benefits, and stock-
based compensation for our executive officers, and finance, legal, human resources, and other administrative employees. In addition, 
general and administrative expenses include outside consulting, legal and accounting services, and facilities and other supporting 
overhead costs. 

The 2015 decrease of 4.6% was primarily attributable to savings from the exit of our Ijie and merchandising operations and 
savings related to the executive separation charges incurred during 2014 which were not incurred in 2015. These savings were 
partially offset by increased expense related to external consulting, legal, and accounting fees.

Asset impairment charges — During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded asset impairment charges of $0.3 million
related to patents. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded $0.8 million in impairment charges related to a tradename 
and certain URLs, including $0.6 million related to certain long-lived assets.

Depreciation and Amortization — Depreciation and amortization expenses primarily consist of depreciation on computer 
equipment, software, leasehold improvements, capitalized software development costs and amortization of purchased intangibles. 

The 2015 decrease of 20.4% was primarily attributable to the WeddingChannel tradename becoming fully depreciated in 
2014, which totaled $2.1 million for 2014. This decrease was partially offset by increased depreciation from software development 
projects.
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Interest and Other (Expense) Income, Net

Interest and other expense was $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which includes an impairment loss on 
our equity investment, Touch Media, of $4.0 million. Interest and other (expense) income was $1.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2014, which was primarily related to a $1.8 million loss incurred on the disposition of our Ijie operations in China. 

Gain (Loss) in Equity Interests

Gain (loss) in equity interests for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014  was $0.5 million and $(0.2) 
million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recognized a $0.8 million gain associated with our existing 
investment in GigMasters as part of the 100% acquisition of GigMasters, partially offset by $0.3 million of losses from equity 
method investments. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recognized a loss on our equity investment in GigMasters of 
$0.2 million, representing our share of this entity's losses prior to our acquisition. 

Income Tax Expense

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2015 was 60.2%, compared to 93.3% for the year ended December 31, 
2014. The decrease in our effective tax rate in the current year was primarily attributable to the 2014 sale of our Ijie operations in 
China. We expect an effective tax rate of approximately 40% on an ongoing basis; however, our effective tax rate may fluctuate 
significantly based on the mix of our taxable income among states, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, 
and changes in tax laws, regulations, or interpretations thereof.
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Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013

The following table summarizes results of operations for 2014 compared to 2013:

Year Ended December 31,
   2014 2013 Increase/(Decrease)

   Amount
% of Net
Revenue Amount

% of Net
Revenue Amount %

      (Dollars in Thousands, Except for per Share Data)
Net revenue $ 143,664 100.0% $ 133,814 100.0% $ 9,850 7.4 %
Cost of revenue 21,195 14.8 22,401 16.7 (1,206) (5.4)
Gross profit 122,469 85.2 111,413 83.3 11,056 9.9
Operating expenses 113,572 79.0 98,906 73.9 14,666 14.8
Income from operations 8,897 6.2 12,507 9.3 (3,610) (28.9)
Loss in equity interest (232) (0.2) (2,016) (1.5) 1,784 88.5
Interest and other income
(expense), net (1,740) (1.2) 144 0.1 (1,884) (1,308.3)
Income before income taxes 6,925 4.8 10,635 7.9 (3,710) (34.9)
Income tax expense 6,463 4.5 4,841 3.6 1,622 33.5
Net income $ 462 0.3% $ 5,794 4.3% $ (5,332) (92.0)%
Net income per share
attributable to XO Group Inc.
common stockholders:
Basic $ 0.02 $ 0.24 $ (0.22) (91.7)%
Diluted $ 0.02 $ 0.23 $ (0.21) (91.3)%

Net Revenue

Net revenue increased to $143.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, from $133.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013. The following table sets forth revenue by category for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2013, the percentage increase or decrease between those periods, and the percentage of total net revenue 
that each category represented for those periods:

Year Ended December 31,

   Net Revenue
Percentage
Increase/

(Decrease)

Percentage of
Total Net Revenue

   2014 2013 2014 2013
   (In Thousands)
National online advertising $ 30,456 $ 27,216 11.9% 21.2% 20.3%
Local online advertising 59,093 54,445 8.5 41.1 40.7
Total online advertising 89,549 81,661 9.7 62.3 61.0
Transactions 10,370 7,926 30.8 7.2 5.9
Merchandise 15,908 18,406 (13.6) 11.1 13.8
Publishing and other 27,837 25,821 7.8 19.4 19.3
Total net revenue $ 143,664 $ 133,814 7.4% 100.0% 100.0%

Online advertising - Revenue from national online advertising increased 11.9% driven by increased advertising from our 
Bump brand and moderate growth in our wedding business. 

Local online advertising revenue increased 8.5%, attributable to an increase in the number of local vendors advertising with 
us on our network of websites as a result of new vendors and increased customer retention rates. During the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2014, we had an average of 22,694 local paying vendors compared to an average of 21,508 local paying 
vendors during the twelve months ended December 31, 2013.
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Transactions - Revenue from transactions increased 30.8%, primarily driven by increases in guest purchase conversions with 
our retail partners, the number of events with registries, and guest user engagement with our registry aggregation pages.

Merchandise - Revenue from merchandising operations decreased 13.6% and was primarily driven by lower revenue 
generated as a result of reduced site traffic, an overall lower average order value and a decrease in shipping revenue due to free 
shipping and other promotions. In October 2014, we announced that after a strategic review we would cease our merchandise 
operations. We continue to serve the transaction needs of our users through a registry and partner-based model for providing users 
with desired products and services.

Publishing and other - Revenue from publishing and other increased 7.8%, primarily driven by an increase in advertising 
revenue related to The Knot national and regional magazines, specifically higher revenue per advertising page sold for the national 
magazine, as well as an increase in the number of advertising pages for the regional magazines.

Gross Profit/Gross Margin

Cost of revenues consists of the cost of merchandise sold, which includes outbound shipping and personalization costs, costs 
related to the production of national and regional magazines, payroll and related expenses for our personnel who are responsible 
for the production of online and offline media, and costs of internet and hosting services. Gross margin improved 1.9 percentage 
points to 85.2%, compared to 83.3% in 2013. The following table presents the components of gross profit and gross margin for 
the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013:

Year Ended December 31,
   2014 2013 Increase/(Decrease)

  
Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin %

Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin %

Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin %

   (Dollars in Thousands)
Online advertising 
(national and local) $ 87,779 98.0% $ 79,734 97.6% $ 8,045 0.4 %
Transactions 10,370 100.0 7,926 100.0 2,444 —
Merchandise 4,994 31.4 7,110 38.6 (2,116) (7.2)%
Publishing and other 19,326 69.4 16,643 64.5 2,683 4.9 %
Total gross profit $ 122,469 85.2% $ 111,413 83.3% $ 11,056 1.9 %

The increase in the total gross margin percentage was primarily attributable to increases in revenue for the two lines of business 
that have the highest margins, specifically online advertising and transactions, and by a decline in revenue from our lower-margin 
merchandise business. Our transactions business has no cost of revenue. Our gross margin percentage for merchandise declined 
due to greater promotional sales of product, including personalized product. Our gross margin percentage for publishing and other 
declined due to an increase in returns of newsstand copies distributed for our National magazine.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased $14.7 million, or 14.8%, to $113.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. Drivers of 
the operating expense growth were costs associated with revenue growth, the investment we are making in our transformation, 
and accelerated amortization of the WeddingChannel trade name.
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The following table presents the components of operating expenses and the percentage of revenue that each component 
represented for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013:

Year Ended December 31,

   Operating Expenses Percentage
Increase/

(Decrease)

Percentage of
Total Net Revenue

   2014 2013 2014 2013
   (In Thousands)
Product and content development $ 35,820 $ 29,877 19.9% 24.9% 22.3%
Sales and marketing 44,330 39,718 11.6 30.9 29.7
General and administrative 25,617 23,073 11.0 17.8 17.2
Asset impairment charges 836 1,430 (41.5) 0.6 1.1
Depreciation and amortization 6,969 4,808 44.9 4.9 3.6
Total operating expenses $ 113,572 $ 98,906 14.8% 79.1% 73.9%

Product and Content Development - The increase of 19.9% was primarily attributable to an increase in employee headcount, 
as well as an increase in expenditures to support our initiatives in product and technology development.

Sales and Marketing - The increase of 11.6% was primarily attributable to increased commissions and sales incentives as a 
result of our increased revenue.

General and Administrative - The increase of 11.0% was primarily attributable to increased compensation costs resulting 
from changes to the executive team, including executive separation charges.

Asset impairment charges - During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded $0.2 million in impairment charges 
related to a tradename and certain URLs and $0.6 million in impairments related to certain long-lived assets. During the year 
ended December 31, 2013, we recorded $1.4 million in impairment charges related to tradenames, including $1.2 million for the 
WeddingChannel tradename.

Depreciation and Amortization - The increase of 44.9% was primarily attributable to an increase in amortization of the 
WeddingChannel tradename.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense) was $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, and included a $1.8 million loss 
incurred on the disposition of our Ijie operations in China. Interest and other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 
2013 represented other income of $0.1 million primarily attributable to other income recorded by one of our foreign subsidiaries 
for subsidies received from the local government, as well as foreign currency transaction gains.

Gain (Loss) in Equity Interests

Loss in equity interests for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $0.2 million and $2.0 million, respectively. 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recognized a loss on our equity investment in GigMasters of $0.2 million, 
representing our share of this entity's losses for the year. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment 
charge for our investment in PricingEngine, Inc. of $1.8 million as a result of our other-than-temporary impairment analysis.

Income Tax Expense

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 93.3%, compared to 45.5% for the year ended December 31, 
2013. The increase in our effective tax rate during the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily attributable to the sale of our 
Ijie operations in China. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow
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Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of 
acquisition. At December 31, 2015, we had $88.5 million in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $90.0 million at December 31, 
2014 and $90.7 million at December 31, 2013.

The following table sets forth our cash flows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities for the 
periods indicated:

For the Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
   (In Thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 20,548 $ 20,015 $ 22,243
Net cash used in investing activities (11,577) (16,490) (7,952)
Net cash used in financing activities (10,417) (4,267) (1,001)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (1,446) $ (742) $ 13,290

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $20.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. This was driven by our 
net income of $5.5 million adjusted for $20.5 million of non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization expense of $5.5 
million, stock-based compensation of $6.0 million, and an increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts of $1.8 million. Accounts 
receivable, net of deferred revenue, increased $4.7 million, driven by a mix shift towards transactions and national advertising 
revenues, which generally have longer payment terms. Additionally, there was also a continuing impact in the early part of 2015 
from the adjustment to our billing practices for our national advertising business which was initiated in 2014. In addition, accounts 
payable and accrued expenses increased by $0.4 million, driven by higher taxes payable as of December 31, 2015 as compared 
to December 31, 2014.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $20.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. This was driven by our 
net income of $0.5 million adjusted for non-cash items of $18.2 million, including (i) depreciation and amortization of $7.0 million, 
(ii) stock-based compensation of $6.1 million, (iii) deferred income tax expense of $2.0 million, (iv) a $1.8 million loss on the 
disposal of assets, primarily from the sale of our Ijie operations and (v) $1.4 million increase in allowance for doubtful accounts.  
In addition, cash provided by operating activities included a $3.8 million decrease in other assets driven by a decrease in prepaid 
taxes and a $1.8 million decrease in inventories as a result of initiating the process of closing our merchandise operations.  These 
increases to cash provided by operating activities were partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable, net of deferred revenue 
of $4.0 million as a result of a mix shift towards our registry and national advertising revenue lines and the adjustment in our 
billing practices to be consistent with industry standards, which extended our billing and collection cycle. 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $22.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. This was driven by our 
net income of $5.8 million adjusted for non-cash items of $14.6 million, including (i) depreciation and amortization of $4.8 million, 
(ii) stock-based compensation of $6.7 million, and (iii) $3.2 million of impairment expenses.  In addition, cash provided by 
operating activities included an decrease in accounts receivable, net of deferred revenue of $2.8 million. These increases were 
partially offset by an increase in other assets of $1.5 million, primarily related to an increase in prepaid taxes.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $11.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily related to the  
acquisition of  the portion of GigMasters not already owned by us totaling $5.6 million, as well as $2.5 million of  minority 
investments in Jetaport Inc. and a vendor services company. In addition the Company made $3.1 million of investments in capitalized 
software.

Net cash used in investing activities was $16.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily related to acquisitions 
totaling $5.7 million, as well as a $4.0 million  investment in Touch Media International Holdings, a company with an interactive 
in-taxi advertising and media platform, with operations in China for a minority equity interest. In addition, the Company made 
$4.3 million of investments in capitalized software.

Net cash used in investing activities was $8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, primarily consisting of  
investments in capitalized software of $4.3 million, purchases of property and equipment of $1.6 million and acquisitions and 
investments in equity interests of $1.9 million. 
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Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily driven by the 
repurchase of shares totaling $8.8 million and the surrender of restricted common stock for income tax purposes totaling $3.1 
million. 

Net cash used in financing activities was $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily driven by cash used 
to satisfy tax withholding obligations for employees related to the vesting of their restricted stock awards of $4.8 million  and the 
repurchase of shares totaling $1.6 million, partially offset by excess tax benefits related to stock awards of $1.3 million and the 
proceeds from the issuances of common stock in connection with our employee stock purchase plan and the exercise of stock 
options of $0.9 million.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. This was driven by cash used 
to satisfy tax withholding obligations for employees related to the vesting of their restricted stock awards of $1.8 million. This 
use of cash was partially offset by the proceeds from the issuances of common stock in connection with our employee stock 
purchase plan, as well as the exercise of stock options of $0.5 million and excess tax benefits from stock-based awards of $0.3 
million.

We expect our sources of liquidity to primarily include cash generated from operations. We believe that our existing cash and 
cash equivalents, together with cash expected to be generated from operations, will be sufficient to fund our operating activities, 
anticipated capital expenditures, investments in product and technology, potential business and asset acquisitions, strategic 
investments, and repurchases of our common stock for the foreseeable future.

 Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes XO Group’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015:

Payments Due by Period

   Total
Less Than

1 Year 1 – 3 Years 3 – 5 Years
More Than

5 Years
   (In Thousands)

 Operating leases $ 18,362 $ 2,982 $ 5,792 $ 5,529 $ 4,059
 Purchase commitments 3,093 1,394 1,699 — —

 Total $ 21,455 $ 4,376 $ 7,491 $ 5,529 $ 4,059

Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of future cash flows associated with our unrecognized tax benefits at December 
31, 2015, we are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of any potential cash settlements with taxing authorities.  
Therefore, $1.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been excluded from the contractual obligation table above.

In connection with the sale of our Ijie operations in December 2014, we have agreed to indemnify the buyers for certain 
liabilities that may arise related to events prior to the sale transaction or breach of our covenants under the sale agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2015, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as 
entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of 
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Seasonality

We believe the impact of the frequency of weddings varying from quarter-to-quarter results in lower transactions revenue in 
the first and fourth quarters.  Our publishing business experiences fluctuations resulting in quarter-to-quarter declines in the first 
and third quarters due to the cyclical publishing schedule of our regional publications.  As a result of the enhancement of our 
marketplace, we could potentially experience new seasonal patterns going forward. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
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The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us 
to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities on an on-going basis. Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the 
determination of fair value of equity awards issued, fair value of our reporting unit, valuation of intangible assets (and their related 
useful lives), certain components of the income tax provisions, including valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, 
compensation accruals, allowances for bad debts, reserves for future returns, and the determination of best estimated selling prices 
in multiple element arrangements. We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors 
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing 
basis. The level of uncertainty in estimates and assumptions increases with the length of time until the underlying transactions 
are completed. Actual results could differ from estimates in amounts that may be material to the financial statements.

We believe the following critical accounting policies involve significant areas of management’s estimates and judgments in 
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. For further information, refer to Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included herein. 

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue primarily from the sale of online advertising programs, commissions earned in connection with the 
sale of gift registry products, the sale of merchandise and the publication of magazines, provided that there is persuasive evidence 
of an arrangement, the service has been provided or the product has been shipped, selling price is fixed or determinable, collection 
is reasonably assured and we have no significant remaining obligation. Online programs include (i) sponsored and brand-integrated 
content, (ii) digital and native banner advertisements, (iii) placement in our online search tools, (iv) online listings and (v) direct 
e-mail marketing. Advertisers can purchase the exclusive right to promote products or services on a specific online editorial area 
and can purchase a special feature on our sites. 

Certain elements of online advertising contracts provide for the delivery of a minimum number of impressions. Impressions 
are the featuring of a customer’s advertisement, banner, link or other form of content on our sites. Performance is measured for 
advertising contracts that contain minimum guaranteed impressions or other performance criteria primarily through tracking 
delivery of impressions. Revenue is recognized as performance criteria are met, which is typically on a straight-line basis. To the 
extent that minimum guaranteed impressions are not met, we are often obligated to extend the period of the contract until the 
guaranteed impressions are achieved. If this occurs, we defer and recognize the corresponding revenue over the extended period 
based on impressions delivered. We do not have any material open-ended subscriptions with our vendors. 

The Company’s transaction offerings provide opportunities for our audience to purchase products and services. We offer 
programs that enable vendors to sell through our online properties and their own branded websites and properties. We earn fixed 
fees, a percentage of sales, per-unit activity fees, or some combination thereof with respect to these transactions.Transactions 
revenue includes revenue from our transaction services, and primarily represents commissions from retailers who participate in 
our registry aggregation service, which offers couples and their guests the opportunity to view multiple registries in one location 
and for guests to order gifts off of these registries. After the retail partners take a sales order or ship the sales order, depending 
on our contractual agreement with the registry partner, the related commissions are contractually earned by us and recognized as 
revenue. Product returns or exchanges do not materially impact the commissions earned by us. We only record net commissions, 
and not gross revenue and cost of revenue associated with these products, since we are not the primary obligor in these transactions, 
the transactions are not subject to inventory risk and amounts earned are determined using a fixed percentage. 

 Merchandise revenue generally includes the selling price of wedding supplies through our websites, as well as related 
outbound shipping and handling charges since we are the primary party obligated in a transaction, are subject to inventory risk 
and establish our own pricing and selection of suppliers. Title and risk of loss related to our merchandise operations passed to 
buyers generally upon shipment. We typically refund customers or ships replacement products in the event that there are damaged 
or lost products prior to delivery to the customer. Merchandise revenue is recognized when products are shipped, reduced by 
discounts as well as an allowance for estimated sales returns. Merchandise revenue excludes related sales taxes collected. 

Publishing revenue primarily includes print advertising revenue derived from the publication of national and regional 
magazines and guides. Publishing revenue is recognized upon the publication of the related magazines, at which time all material 
services related to the magazine have been performed. Additionally, publishing revenue is derived from the sale of magazines 
on newsstands and in bookstores. Title and risk of loss passes to our customer at the time they are received by the retailers. 
Revenue from the sale of magazines is reduced by an allowance for estimated sales returns. 
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 Our advertising arrangements often include multiple-element deliverables, primarily online and print advertising. We evaluate 
each element in a multiple-element arrangement to determine whether it represents a separate unit of accounting with standalone 
value. Each of our deliverables typically represents separate units of accounting and the arrangement consideration is allocated 
to the identified separate units of accounting based on their relative selling prices. We use our best estimated selling price to 
determine the relative selling price as vendor specific objective evidence and third party objective evidence do not currently exist 
for any of our separate units of accounting. We evaluate our best estimated selling price by reviewing historical data related to 
sales of its deliverables. Our best estimate of selling price is intended to represent the price at which it would sell the item regularly 
on a stand-alone basis. The arrangement consideration allocated to online products and services is recognized as revenue based 
on delivery from the start date to the end date of the arrangement, which is typically on a straight-line basis, except for direct 
emails which are recognized on the date of delivery. The arrangement consideration allocated to print products is recognized as 
revenue upon the publication of the related magazines. During the year ended December 31, 2015, there were no material changes 
to the methods or assumptions used to determine the best estimated selling price for separate units of accounting that would have 
a material effect on the allocation of arrangement consideration. We evaluate multiple contracts entered into with the same 
advertiser as these contracts may need to be combined and accounted for as a single arrangement when the economics of the 
individual contracts cannot be understood without reference to the arrangement as a whole.

We limit the amount that is allocable to delivered items in its multiple-deliverable arrangements to the amount that is not 
contingent upon the delivery of other items in the arrangement. We have concluded that our right to receive consideration from 
the customer for delivered items is not linked to the successful delivery of the remaining performance obligations in the multiple-
deliverable arrangement; however, revenue recognized for the value of each deliverable is limited to the amount contracted.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make 
required payments. In determining these allowances, we evaluate a number of factors, including the credit risk of customers, 
historical trends and other relevant information. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, additional 
allowances may be required. Allowance for doubtful accounts has ranged between $1.7 million to $2.8 million over the three 
year period ended December 31, 2015. A 1% change in the balance of allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross 
accounts receivable would change our annual operating expense by $0.1 million to $0.2 million.

Goodwill, Other Intangible and Long-lived Assets

The purchase price of acquired companies is allocated between intangible assets and the net tangible assets of the acquired 
businesses with the residual of the purchase price recorded as goodwill. At December 31, 2015, we had goodwill of $47.4 million
and intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $4.8 million. We evaluate goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets 
annually as of October 1 for impairment, or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable. To complete our impairment analysis of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, we estimate fair 
value using multiple approaches and also consider whether events or changes in circumstances such as significant declines in 
revenue or earnings, or material adverse changes in the business climate indicate that the carrying value of assets may be impaired. 
There were no impairments of goodwill in any of the periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Our definite-lived intangible assets include customer and advertiser relationships, developed technology and patents, media 
content, trademarks and tradenames and service contracts. All definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives, which we believe is consistent with the expected future cash flows to be generated by the 
respective assets. Definite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating an asset for 
recoverability, we estimate the future cash flow expected to result from the use of the asset and eventual disposition. If the expected 
future undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss, equal to the excess of the carrying 
amount over the fair value of the asset, is recognized. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we determined 
that certain definite-lived intangible assets were impaired by $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $1.2 million respectively. See Note 
6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details. 

Other long-lived assets primarily consist of software, leasehold improvements, computer and office equipment and furniture 
and fixtures, which are subject to depreciation over the useful life of the asset. The useful lives of other long-lived assets are 
determined based on our estimate of the period over which the asset will be utilized; such periods are periodically reviewed for 
reasonableness. We may be required to change these estimates based on changes in our industry or other changing circumstances. 
If these estimates change in the future, we may be required to recognize increased or decreased depreciation expense for these 
assets. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded impairments of certain long-lived assets of $0.6 million. There were 
no impairment charges on long-lived assets in the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2013.
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, as required by the accounting standard for income taxes ASC 
740. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as net 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred taxes are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxes of 
a change in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date. The effects of any future 
changes in tax laws or rates have not been considered. We regularly review deferred tax assets to assess their potential realization 
and establish a valuation allowance for portions of such assets to reduce the carrying value if we do not consider it to be more 
likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. Our review includes evaluating both positive (e.g., sources of taxable 
income) and negative (e.g., recent historical losses) evidence that could impact the realizability of our deferred tax assets. 

 
We recognize the impact of an uncertain tax position in our financial statements if, in management's judgment, the position 

is not more-likely-then-not sustainable upon audit based on the position's technical merits. This involves the identification of 
potential uncertain tax positions, the evaluation of applicable tax laws and an assessment of whether a liability for an uncertain 
tax position is necessary. We operate and are subject to audit in multiple taxing jurisdictions.

 
We record interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense. 
 
A substantial portion of our net operating losses were acquired in connection with the acquisition of WeddingChannel.com 

and are subject to a limitation on future utilization under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. We currently estimate that 
the effect of Section 382 will generally limit the amount of the loss carryforwards of WeddingChannel.com that are available to 
offset future taxable income to approximately $3.6 million annually. The overall determination of the annual loss limitation is 
subject to interpretation; therefore, the annual loss limitation could be subject to change.

A 1% change to our effective tax rate would have changed our annual net income during the three year period ended 
December 31, 2015 by approximately $0.1 million.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the measurement-
date fair value of the award. The fair value of restricted stock awarded under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan is determined using 
the intrinsic value of the stock at the time of grant. 

The fair value of the stock options granted during 2015 was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (see 
Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further details). Using this model, fair value was calculated based on 
assumptions with respect to (i) expected volatility of our stock price, (ii) the expected term of the award, (iii) expected dividend 
yield on our stock, and (iv) a risk-free interest rate, which is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities 
approximating the expected term. Specifically, the expected term of the options granted during 2015 was determined using the 
"simplified method" as prescribed by Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") Topic 14D.2, which is presumed to be the midpoint 
between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. The simplified method was used to determine the expected term of 
the options, due to the extended period of time that has lapsed since our last granted options, as well as differences in the contractual 
terms of the option awards compared to options granted in prior periods, such that our historical share option experience does 
not provide a reasonable basis to estimate the expected term. We intend to continue to consistently apply the simplified method 
until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding exercise data becomes available. 

The fair value of the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) rights granted from the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (see Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements 
for further details). Using this model, fair value is calculated based on assumptions with respect to (i) expected volatility of our 
stock price, (ii) the expected life of the award, which for ESPP rights is the period of time between the offering date and the 
exercise date (as defined in Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements), (iii) expected dividend yield on our stock, and (iv) 
a risk-free interest rate, which is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected 
term. Expected volatility is calculated using historical prices of our stock. The expected dividend yield is zero, as we have never 
paid dividends and currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of the business. The use of different 
assumptions in the Black-Scholes pricing model would result in different amounts of stock-based compensation expense related 
to the ESPP; however, in total, stock-based compensation expense for the ESPP is not material to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
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For grants of restricted stock and options, we record compensation expense based on the fair value of the shares on the grant 
date over the requisite service period, less estimated forfeitures. Compensations expense for ESPP rights is recorded in line with 
each respective offering period.

Forfeitures of equity awards are estimated at the grant date and reduce the compensation recognized. Estimated forfeitures 
of equity awards are periodically reviewed for reasonableness. We consider several factors when estimating future forfeitures, 
including types of awards, employee level and historical experience. Actual forfeitures may differ from current estimates.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows due to adverse 
changes in financial market prices, including interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, commodity price risk, and 
other relevant market rate or price risks.

We are exposed to market risk through interest rates related to the investment of our current cash and cash equivalents of 
$88.5 million as of December 31, 2015. These funds are generally invested in highly liquid debt instruments. As such instruments 
mature and the funds are re-invested, we are exposed to changes in market interest rates. This risk is not considered material, and 
we manage such risk by continuing to evaluate the best investment rates available for short-term, high quality investments.

 Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly between 
the U.S. Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and Chinese Yuan Renminbi. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we 
incurred foreign currency translation (losses) gains of $(51,000), $(56,000) and $34,000, respectively.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of XO Group Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XO Group Inc. (XO Group) as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the 
Index at Item 15. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of XO Group at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our 
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, 
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), XO 
Group's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) 
and our report dated March 3, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

         /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
New York, New York
March 3, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of XO Group Inc.

We have audited XO Group Inc.'s (XO Group) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 Framework) (the COSO criteria). XO Group's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in 
the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on XO Group's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, XO Group maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2015, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of XO Group as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015
and our report dated March 3, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

         /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
New York, New York
March 3, 2016 
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XO GROUP INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data)

December 31,
   2015 2014

ASSETS
Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents $ 88,509 $ 89,955
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,668 and $2,756 at December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively 20,475 15,785
Deferred tax assets, net — 3,052
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,341 4,696

Total current assets 114,325 113,488
Long-term restricted cash 2,598 2,600
Property and equipment, net 13,251 15,125
Intangible assets, net 4,817 1,687
Goodwill 47,396 41,871
Deferred tax assets, net 11,578 13,110
Investments 2,719 5,501
Other assets 57 200
Total assets $ 196,741 $ 193,582

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 12,163 $ 12,463
Deferred revenue 18,640 16,236

Total current liabilities 30,803 28,699
Deferred rent 4,486 5,167
Other liabilities 1,985 1,790
Total liabilities 37,274 35,656
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ equity:      

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized and 26,235,824 and
26,630,507 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively 264 267
Additional paid-in-capital 173,564 171,951
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 35
Accumulated deficit (14,361) (14,327)

Total stockholders’ equity 159,467 157,926
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 196,741 $ 193,582

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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XO GROUP INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
Net revenue:         

Online advertising $ 101,705 $ 89,549 $ 81,661
Transactions 14,700 10,370 7,926
Merchandise 878 15,908 18,406
Publishing and other 24,361 27,837 25,821

Total net revenue 141,644 143,664 133,814
Cost of revenue:         

Online advertising 2,235 1,770 1,927
Merchandise 881 10,914 11,296
Publishing and other 7,271 8,511 9,178

Total cost of revenue 10,387 21,195 22,401
Gross profit 131,257 122,469 111,413

Operating expenses:         
Product and content development 40,351 35,820 29,877
Sales and marketing 43,420 44,330 39,718
General and administrative 24,440 25,617 23,073
Asset impairment charges 266 836 1,430
Depreciation and amortization 5,544 6,969 4,808

Total operating expenses 114,021 113,572 98,906
Income from operations 17,236 8,897 12,507
Gain (loss) in equity interests 520 (232) (2,016)
Interest and other (expense) income, net (4,023) (1,740) 144
Income before income taxes 13,733 6,925 10,635
Income tax expense 8,269 6,463 4,841
Net income $ 5,464 $ 462 $ 5,794

Net income per share:         
Basic $ 0.22 $ 0.02 $ 0.24
Diluted $ 0.21 $ 0.02 $ 0.23

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating net earnings per 
share:         

Basic 25,164 25,210 24,620
Dilutive effect of:
Restricted stock 352 355 874
Employee Stock Purchase Program 1 1 6
Options 13 23 96

Diluted 25,530 25,589 25,596  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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XO GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net income $ 5,464 $ 462 $ 5,794
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments — (64) (107)
Total comprehensive income $ 5,464 $ 398 $ 5,687

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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XO GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in Thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-in-
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit Total Equity   Shares

Par
Value

Balance at December 31, 2012 25,853 $ 259 $ 164,071 $ (97) $ (19,726) $ 144,507
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee stock
purchase plan 39 — 298 — — 298
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of cancellations 1,275 13 — — — 13
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (107) — (107)
Surrender of restricted common stock for income tax purposes (187) (2) (1,780) — — (1,782)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the exercise of
vested stock options 69 — 197 — — 197
Stock-based compensation — — 6,665 — — 6,665
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 305 — — 305
Net income — — — — 5,794 5,794
Balance at December 31, 2013 27,049 $ 270 $ 169,756 $ (204) $ (13,932) $ 155,890
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee stock
purchase plan 38 — 374 — — 374
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of cancellations (82) — — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (64) — (64)
Realization of foreign currency translation adjustments — — — 303 — 303
Surrender of restricted common stock for income tax purposes (384) (3) (4,793) — — (4,796)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the exercise of
vested stock options 131 1 522 — — 523
Repurchase of common stock and extinguishment (121) (1) (770) — (857) (1,628)
Stock-based compensation — — 5,602 — — 5,602
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 1,260 — — 1,260
Net income — — — — 462 462
Balance at December 31, 2014 26,631 $ 267 $ 171,951 $ 35 $ (14,327) $ 157,926

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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XO GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in Thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-in-
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit Total Equity   Shares

Par
Value

Balance at January 1, 2015 26,631 $ 267 $171,951 $ 35 $ (14,327) $ 157,926
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee
stock purchase plan 44 — 494 — — 494
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of cancellations 268 3 — — — 3
Realization of foreign currency translation — — — (35) — (35)
Surrender of restricted common stock for income tax
purposes (193) (1) (3,054) — — (3,055)
Repurchase of common stock and extinguishment (514) (5) (3,304) — (5,498) (8,807)
Stock-based compensation — — 6,529 — — 6,529
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 948 — — 948
Net income — — — — 5,464 5,464
Balance at December 31, 2015 26,236 $ 264 $173,564 $ — $ (14,361) $ 159,467

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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XO GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 5,464 $ 462 $ 5,794
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:         

Depreciation and amortization 5,544 6,969 4,808
Stock-based compensation expense 5,992 6,139 6,697
Deferred income taxes 4,145 1,975 (440)
Loss on disposal or sale of assets 254 1,828 —
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,764 1,422 446
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards (948) (1,260) (305)
Asset impairment charges 266 836 1,430
Impairment of investments 4,000 — 1,773
Other non-cash (income) charges (555) 279 160

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (6,454) (5,565) 2,676
Decrease (increase) in inventories 386 1,836 (349)
Decrease (increase) in other assets (1,502) 3,778 (1,486)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 401 403 865
Increase in deferred revenue 1,740 1,547 154
Decrease in deferred rent (681) (747) (714)
Increase in other liabilities, net 732 113 734

Net cash provided by operating activities 20,548 20,015 22,243
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (5,647) (5,725) (600)
Additions to capitalized software (3,096) (4,282) (4,348)
Payment to acquire investments (2,500) (4,000) (1,300)
Maturity of U.S. Treasury Bills 2,600 2,599 2,598
Purchases of U.S. Treasury Bills (2,595) (2,599) (2,598)
Decrease in cash associated with disposition — (1,640) —
Purchases of property and equipment (453) (786) (1,620)
Other investing activities, net 114 (57) (84)

Net cash used in investing activities (11,577) (16,490) (7,952)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Surrender of restricted common stock for income tax purposes (3,055) (4,796) (1,782)
Repurchase of common stock (8,807) (1,628) —
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 948 1,260 305
Proceeds pursuant to employee stock-based compensation plans 497 897 476

Net cash used in financing activities (10,417) (4,267) (1,001)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,446) (742) 13,290
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 89,955 90,697 77,407
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 88,509 $ 89,955 $ 90,697
Supplemental information:
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ 4,305 $ 475 $ 7,379
Cash paid for acquisitions and investments $ 8,147 $ 9,725 $ 1,900   

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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1. Nature of Operations

XO Group Inc.’s mission is to help people navigate and truly enjoy life’s biggest moments together. The Company’s multi-
platform brands guide couples through transformative life stages - from getting married, to moving in together, and having a baby 
- and include The Knot, The Bump, and The Nest. The Company offers content and marketing solutions, targeted advertising 
programs, transactions and merchandise.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of XO Group Inc. (“the Company”) and all 100% and majority 
owned subsidiaries, prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany 
transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation. Investments in which the Company has at least a 20%, but not more 
than a 50% interest are generally accounted for under the equity method. Investment interests below 20% are generally accounted 
for under the cost method, except if the Company could exercise significant influence, the investment would be accounted for 
under the equity method. 

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the determination of fair value of equity awards issued, 
fair value of the Company’s reporting unit, valuation of intangible assets (and their related useful lives), certain components of 
the income tax provisions, including valuation allowances on the Company’s deferred tax assets, compensation accruals, allowances 
for bad debts, reserves for future returns, and the determination of best estimated selling prices in multiple element arrangements. 
The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that it believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. The level of 
uncertainty in estimates and assumptions increases with the length of time until the underlying transactions are completed. Actual 
results could differ from estimates in amounts that may be material to the financial statements.

Comparative Data

Certain prior year financial statement line items and disclosures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase 
to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with banks and money market funds. The market 
value of the Company’s cash equivalents approximates their cost plus accrued interest.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate fair value as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 due to the short-term nature 
of these instruments.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to seven years. Leasehold 
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improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of the related lease agreement. 
The Company capitalizes qualifying computer software costs incurred during the application development stage and amortizes 
these costs over the estimated useful life of the software, ranging from one to three years, on a straight-line basis, beginning when 
the software is ready for its intended use. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded 
amortization of capitalized software of $3.3 million, $2.2 million, and $1.4 million, respectively. Maintenance and repair costs are 
expensed as incurred while expenditures for major renewals and improvements are capitalized. Upon the disposition of property 
and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. For the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2013, no impairments of property and equipment were made. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company 
recorded impairments of property and equipment of $0.6 million.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess purchase price remaining from an acquisition after an allocation of purchase price has been made to 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values. Goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have 
indefinite lives are not amortized but are subject to annual impairment tests. The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually 
as of October 1 and more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair 
value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. The goodwill impairment analysis is a two-step test that is performed at the 
reporting unit level. The first step, used to identify potential impairment, involves comparing the reporting unit’s fair value to its 
carrying value including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carryin g value, the applicable goodwill is 
considered not to be impaired. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, there is an indication of a potential impairment and the 
second step of the test is performed to measure the amount of impairment. Should the carrying amount for a reporting unit exceed 
its fair value, then the first step of the quantitative impairment test is failed and the magnitude of any goodwill impairment is 
determined under the second step, which is a comparison of the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying 
value. The implied fair value of goodwill is the excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over its carrying value, excluding 
goodwill. Impaired goodwill is written down to its implied fair value with a charge to expense in the period the impairment is 
identified. An impairment loss recognized cannot exceed the amount of goodwill assigned to a reporting unit, and the loss establishes 
a new basis in the goodwill. Subsequent reversal of goodwill impairment losses is not permitted.

In accordance with accounting guidance, the Company may first perform a qualitative goodwill assessment to determine 
whether events or circumstances lead to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less 
than its carrying amount. Factors such as macroeconomic conditions; industry and market considerations; cost and other factors 
are used to assess the validity of goodwill. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it 
is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step 
goodwill impairment test, as described above, is not necessary. If, however, the Company concludes otherwise, then the Company 
must perform the first step of the two-step impairment test by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value with its carrying value 
including goodwill. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, then the Company must perform the second step of the goodwill 
impairment test to measure the impairment loss, if any.

The Company’s intangible assets deemed to have definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, on a straight-
line basis as follows:

Customer and advertiser relationships 5 to 10 years
Patents and developed technology 2 to 20 years
Media content 5 to 10 years
Trademarks and trade names 1 to 13 years
Service contracts and other 10 years

The Company’s long-lived assets primarily consist of software, leasehold improvements, computer and office equipment and 
furniture and fixtures, which are subject to depreciation over the useful life of the asset. Long-lived assets, including definite-lived 
intangible assets, are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of 
the asset may be impaired. In evaluating an asset for recoverability, the Company estimates the future cash flow expected to result 
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from the use of the asset and eventual disposition. If the expected future undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount 
of the asset, an impairment loss, equal to the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the asset, is recognized.

 
The Company performs impairment evaluations annually as of October 1, or more often if events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, the Company 
recorded impairments of certain intangible assets of $0.3 million, $0.2 million, and $1.4 million, respectively. See Note 6 for 
additional details on the impairments of certain intangible assets recorded during the year. 

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue primarily from the sale of online advertising programs, commissions earned in connection 
with the sale of gift registry products, the sale of merchandise and the publication of magazines, provided that there is persuasive 
evidence of an arrangement, the service has been provided or the product has been shipped, selling price is fixed or determinable, 
collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no significant remaining obligation. Online programs include (i) sponsored 
and brand-integrated content, (ii) digital and native banner advertisements, (iii) placement in our online search tools, (iv) online 
listings and (v) direct e-mail marketing. Advertisers can purchase the exclusive right to promote products or services on specific 
online content areas and can purchase a special feature on the Company’s sites. 

Certain elements of online advertising contracts provide for the delivery of a minimum number of impressions. Impressions 
are the featuring of a customer’s advertisement, banner, link or other form of content on the Company’s sites. Performance is 
measured for advertising contracts that contain minimum guaranteed impressions or other performance criteria primarily through 
tracking delivery of impressions. Revenue is recognized as performance criteria are met, which is typically on a straight-line basis. 
To the extent that minimum guaranteed impressions are not met, the Company is often obligated to extend the period of the contract 
until the guaranteed impressions are achieved. If this occurs, the Company defers and recognizes the corresponding revenue over 
the extended period based on impressions delivered. The Company does not have any material open-ended subscriptions with its 
vendors. 

The Company’s transaction offerings provide opportunities for its audience to purchase products and services. The Company 
offers programs that enable vendors to sell through its online properties and their own branded websites and properties. The 
Company earns fixed fees, a percentage of sales, per-unit activity fees, or some combination thereof with respect to these 
transactions. Transactions revenue primarily represents commissions from retailers who participate in the Company’s registry 
aggregation service, which offers couples and their guests the opportunity to view multiple registries in one location and for guests 
to order gifts off of these registries. After the retail partners take a sales order or ship the sales order, depending on our contractual 
agreement with the registry partner, the related commissions are contractually earned by us and recognized as revenue. Product 
returns or exchanges do not materially impact the commissions earned by us. The Company only records net commissions, and 
not gross revenue and cost of revenue associated with these products, since the Company is not the primary obligor in these 
transactions, it is not subject to inventory risk and amounts earned are determined using a fixed percentage. 

 Merchandise revenue generally includes the selling price of wedding supplies through the Company’s websites, as well as 
related outbound shipping and handling charges since the Company is the primary party obligated in a transaction, is subject to 
inventory risk and establishes its own pricing and selection of suppliers. Title and risk of loss related to the Company’s merchandise 
operations passed to buyers generally upon shipment. The Company typically refunded customers or shipped replacement products 
in the event that there were damaged or lost products prior to delivery to the customer. Merchandise revenue is recognized when 
products are shipped, reduced by discounts as well as an allowance for estimated sales returns. Merchandise revenue excludes 
related sales taxes collected. 

Publishing revenue primarily includes print advertising revenue derived from the publication of national and regional 
magazines and guides. Publishing revenue is recognized upon the publication of the related magazines, at which time all material 
services related to the magazine have been performed. Additionally, publishing revenue is derived from the sale of magazines on 
newsstands and in bookstores. Title and risk of loss passes to our customer at the time they are received by the retailers. Revenue 
from the sale of magazines is reduced by an allowance for estimated sales returns. 
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 The Company’s advertising arrangements often include multiple-element deliverables, primarily online and print advertising. 
The Company evaluates each element in a multiple-element arrangement to determine whether it represents a separate unit of 
accounting with standalone value. Each of the Company’s deliverables typically represents separate units of accounting and the 
arrangement consideration is allocated to the identified separate units of accounting based on their relative selling prices. The 
Company uses its best estimated selling price to determine the relative selling price as vendor specific objective evidence and third 
party objective evidence do not currently exist for any of the Company’s separate units of accounting. The Company evaluates its 
best estimated selling price by reviewing historical data related to sales of its deliverables. The Company's best estimate of selling 
price is intended to represent the price at which it would sell the item regularly on a stand-alone basis. The arrangement consideration 
allocated to online products and services is recognized as revenue based on delivery from the start date to the end date of the 
arrangement, which is typically on a straight-line basis, except for direct emails which are recognized on the date of delivery. The 
arrangement consideration allocated to print products is recognized as revenue upon the publication of the related magazines. 
During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, there were no material changes to the methods or assumptions used 
to determine the best estimated selling price for separate units of accounting that would have a material effect on the allocation of 
arrangement consideration. The Company evaluates multiple contracts entered into with the same advertiser as these contracts 
may need to be combined and accounted for as a single arrangement when the economics of the individual contracts cannot be 
understood without reference to the arrangement as a whole. Incremental costs incurred related to the acquisition of customer 
contracts is expensed as the related revenue is recognized.

The Company limits the amount that is allocable to delivered items in its multiple-deliverable arrangements to the amount 
that is not contingent upon the delivery of other items in the arrangement. The Company has concluded that its right to receive 
consideration from the customer for delivered items is not linked to the successful delivery of the remaining performance obligations 
in the multiple-deliverable arrangement; however, revenue recognized for the value of each deliverable is limited to the amount 
contracted.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of the cost of merchandise sold, which includes outbound shipping and personalization costs, costs 
related to the production of national and regional magazines, payroll and related expenses for our personnel who are responsible 
for the production of online and offline media, and costs of internet and hosting services. 

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents payments received or billings in excess of revenue recognized, which are primarily related to 
online and print advertising contracts.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $1.3 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Shipping and Handling Charges

Merchandise revenues included outbound shipping and handling charges of $0.1 million, $1.9 million and $2.6 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash 
equivalents and investments, and accounts receivable. Although the Company deposits its cash with more than one major financial 
institution, its deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on cash and 
cash equivalent accounts to date and the Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk related to cash. 
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For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, no individual customer represented more than 10% of net revenue. 
At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable. The 
Company’s customers are concentrated in the United States. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations, generally does 
not require collateral, and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, 
historical trends and other information.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the 
measurement-date fair value of the award. The fair value of restricted stock awarded under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan is 
determined using the intrinsic value of the stock at the time of grant. 

The fair value of the stock options granted in 2015, 2014, and 2013 from the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan was determined using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model (see Note 4 for further details). Using this model, fair value was calculated based on 
assumptions with respect to (i) expected volatility of the Company's stock price, (ii) the expected term of the award, (iii) expected 
dividend yield on the Company's stock, and (iv) a risk-free interest rate, which is based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities 
with maturities approximating the expected term. Specifically, the expected term of the options granted during 2015, 2014, and 
2013 was determined using the "simplified method" as prescribed by Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") Topic 14D.2, which is 
presumed to be the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. The simplified method was used to 
determine the expected term of the options, due to the extended period of time that has lapsed since the Company last granted 
options, as well as differences in the contractual terms of the option awards compared to options granted in prior periods, such 
that the Company's historical share option experience does not provide a reasonable basis to estimate the expected term. The 
Company intends to continue to consistently apply the simplified method until a sufficient amount of historical information 
regarding exercise data becomes available. 

The fair value of the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) rights granted from the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (see Note 4 for further details). Using this model, 
fair value is calculated based on assumptions with respect to (i) expected volatility of the Company's stock price, (ii) the expected 
life of the award, which for ESPP rights is the period of time between the offering date and the exercise date (as defined in Note 
4), (iii) expected dividend yield on the Company's stock, and (iv) a risk-free interest rate, which is based on quoted U.S. Treasury 
rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected term. Expected volatility is calculated using historical prices for 
the Company's stock. The expected dividend yield is zero, as the Company has never paid dividends and currently intends to retain 
future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of the business. 

For grants of restricted stock and stock options, the Company records compensation expense based on the fair value of the 
shares on the grant date over the requisite service period, less estimated forfeitures. Compensation expense for ESPP rights is 
recorded in line with each respective offering period.

Forfeitures of equity awards are estimated at the grant date and reduce the compensation recognized. Estimated forfeitures of 
equity awards are periodically reviewed for reasonableness. The Company considers several factors when estimating future 
forfeitures, including types of awards, employee level and historical experience. Actual forfeitures may differ from current estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method as required by the accounting standard for income 
taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as net 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred taxes are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxes of 
a change in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date.
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Each reporting period, the Company assesses whether its deferred tax assets are more-likely-than-not realizable, in determining 
whether it is necessary to record a valuation allowance. This includes evaluating both positive (e.g., sources of taxable income) 
and negative (e.g., recent historical losses) evidence that could impact the realizability of the Company's deferred tax assets.

The Company records interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense.

The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain tax position in its financial statements if, in management's judgment, the 
position is more-likely-than-not sustainable upon audit based on the position's technical merits. This involves the identification of 
potential uncertain tax positions, the evaluation of applicable tax laws and measurement of the amount of each uncertain tax 
position that is more-likely-than-not sustainable. 

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income for the period by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share adjusts basic earnings per share for the effects of stock options, 
restricted stock, and the Employee Stock Purchase Program (“ESPP”), only in the periods in which the effects are dilutive. The 
accounting standard pertaining to earnings per share precludes the calculation of diluted earnings per share when a net loss is 
presented. Common equivalent shares are excluded from the diluted computation if their effect is antidilutive. 

For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, the calculation of diluted earnings per share excludes a total of 186,000, 
628,000, and 102,000, respectively, of weighted average number of stock options, restricted stock, and ESPP shares, because to 
include them in the calculation would be antidilutive. 

Segments and Geographical Areas

The Company operates in one reportable segment, as it is organized around its online and offline media service lines. The 
Company has defined its Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") to be its Chief Executive Officer. The Company's CODM 
receives monthly financial results, which contain revenues, cost of revenues, and gross margin of the three components of the 
Company's business: (i) Online Advertising, (ii) Transactions, and (iii) Publishing and Other.  In addition, there is a substantial 
amount of costs that benefit all service lines, but are not allocated to individual cost of revenue categories. Revenue information 
at the product or service level is not captured in the Company’s financial reporting systems and is not included in internal management 
reporting. The Company does not currently disclose revenue from products and services as it is currently impractical to obtain the 
necessary data.

No individual foreign country accounted for more than 10% of the Company's revenue during the years ended December 31, 
2015, 2014 or 2013. No individual foreign country accounted for more than 10% of the Company's accounts receivable during 
the years ended December 31, 2015 or 2014. The Company holds fixed assets in the United States and China. No country outside 
of the United States holds greater than 10% of the Company's fixed assets. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
jointly issued a new revenue recognition standard that is designed to improve financial reporting by creating common recognition 
guidance for U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This guidance provides a more robust 
framework for addressing revenue issues, improves the comparability of revenue recognition practices across industries, provides 
more useful information to users of financial statements through improved disclosure requirements and simplifies the presentation 
of financial statements. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. This guidance permits the use of either a full retrospective method or a modified retrospective 
approach.  The modified retrospective approach would be applied only to the most current period presented along with a cumulative-
effect adjustment at the date of adoption. The original effective date of the new standard was for annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period. In August 2015, the FASB issued an accounting 
standards update that defers by one year the effective date of this new revenue recognition standard.  As a result, the new standard 
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will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, although companies may adopt the standard as 
early as the original effective date. Early application prior to the original effective date is not permitted.  The Company has not 
yet determined when it will adopt the standard or selected a transition method and is currently evaluating the impact this guidance 
will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2015, an accounting standard update was issued related to business combinations simplifying the accounting 
for measurement period adjustments. The new guidance requires that adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a 
business combination be recorded in the period such adjustments are determined, rather than retrospectively adjusting previously 
reported amounts. The new guidance is effective for interim and fiscal reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early 
adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance and has not determined the impact, if any, this 
standard may have on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes. This guidance 
requires a company to present deferred income tax assets and liabilities as non-current in the balance sheets. The guidance requiring 
a tax-paying component of a company to offset deferred tax liabilities and assets and present the deferred taxes as a single amount 
is not affected by this guidance. This guidance is effective on either a prospective or retrospective basis for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period. Early application is permitted. The 
Company has elected to early adopt this guidance on a prospective basis as of December 31, 2015. Prior periods were not 
retrospectively adjusted.

In January 2016, the FASB issued guidance requiring equity securities to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized through net income and will eliminate the cost method for equity securities without readily determinable fair values. 
The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those annual 
periods. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance on operating leases requiring a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments, on its balance sheet. The standard also requires a lessee 
to recognize a single lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, on a generally straight-line 
basis. The guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods 
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on 
its consolidated financial statements.

3. Fair Value Measurements 

Cash and cash equivalents and investments consist of the following:

December 31,
   2015 2014
   (In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents      

Cash $ 33,764 $ 27,186
Restricted cash — 525
Money market funds 54,745 62,244

Total cash and cash equivalents 88,509 89,955
Long-term investments      

Long-term restricted cash 2,598 2,600
Total cash and cash equivalents and investments $ 91,107 $ 92,555

The inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value are classified into the following categories:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
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Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable

Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable (for example, cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)

As of December 31, 2015, the Company’s investment in cash and cash equivalents of $88.5 million and long-term restricted 
cash of $2.6 million on the consolidated balance sheets were measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. During the year ended 
December 31, 2015, there were no transfers in or out of the Company’s Level 1 assets.

The restricted cash of $0.5 million as of December 31, 2014 related to an acquisition. This restricted cash was released during 
the year ended December 31, 2015 as there were no contingencies for which the Company needed to reimburse. Long-term restricted 
cash consists of $2.6 million held as restricted in relation to the Company’s New York office lease.

4. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company maintains several stock-based compensation plans, which are more fully described below. The Company 
includes total stock-based compensation expense related to all its stock awards in various operating expense categories for the 
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, as shown in the table below. Stock based compensation expense included $0.5 
million related to liability awards for the year ended December 31, 2014. There was no material expense related to liability award 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2013.

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
   (In Thousands)
Product and content development $ 1,817 $ 2,020 $ 2,391
Sales and marketing 1,384 1,533 1,591
General and administrative 2,791 2,586 2,715
Total stock-based compensation $ 5,992 $ 6,139 $ 6,697

XO Group Stock-Based Incentive Plans

The 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors, and became effective in May 2009 
following approval by the stockholders, as a successor plan to the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”). All 
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options (incentive and nonqualified stock options are collectively referred to as 
“options”), stock appreciation rights, stock issuances which may be subject to the attainment of designated performance goals or 
service requirements (“restricted stock”), or any combination thereof outstanding under the 1999 Plan have been incorporated into 
the 2009 Plan. Under the terms of the 2009 Plan, 1,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company were initially reserved for 
issuance in addition to the 3,190,737 shares that were incorporated from the 1999 Plan. Following approval by the stockholders, 
effective August 2014, an additional 2,700,000 shares were added to the shares reserved for the 2009 Plan. The 2009 Plan provides 
that awards may be granted to such non-employee directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company as the 
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shall select in its discretion. Only employees of the Company are eligible to 
receive grants of incentive stock options. Options are granted at the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. Options 
vest over periods up to four years and have terms not to exceed ten years. Restricted stock awards vest over periods ranging from 
one year to four years.

As of December 31, 2015, there were 2,853,104 shares available for future grants under the 2009 Plan. Increases to the number 
of shares available for future grants under the 2009 Plan require approval by the Board of Directors and the Company's stockholders.
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Options

The following table represents a summary of the Company’s stock option activity under the 2009 and 2000 Plans and related 
information, without regard for estimated forfeitures, for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Shares

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise

Price
   (In Thousands)   

Options outstanding at December 31, 2013 281 $ 8.79
Options granted 100 10.28
Options exercised (131) 4.00
Options forfeited (100) 10.28

Options outstanding at December 31, 2014 150 12.97
Options granted 280 16.35
Options exercised — —
Options forfeited (27) 16.66

Options outstanding at December 31, 2015 403 $ 15.07

The fair value of the options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 have been estimated on the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

   Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Expected term 6.25 - 7.00
years 3.75 years 3.75 years

Risk-free rate 2.1% - 2.3% 1.4% - 1.7% 1.4% - 1.6%
Expected volatility 38.3% - 47.3% 36.7% - 37.1% 37.0% - 37.1%
Dividend yield —% —% —%

The expected term of the options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 was generally determined using the 
"simplified method" as prescribed by SAB Topic 14D.2, which is presumed to be the midpoint between the vesting date and the 
end of the contractual term. The simplified method was used to determine the expected term of the options granted during the 
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, due to the extended period of time that has lapsed since the Company's last 
granted options, as well as differences in the contractual terms of the option awards compared to options granted in prior periods, 
such that our historical share option experience does not provide a reasonable basis to estimate the expected term. The risk-free 
interest rates are based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected term of the options. 
Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the market price of the Company’s stock. 
 

During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 the Company recorded $0.5 million, $0.2 million, and $0.1 million
of compensation expense related to options, respectively. The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during 
the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $8.09, $3.09, and $3.89, respectively. During each of the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, 37,500 options, with a weighted average exercise price of $12.97, vested. No options vested during 
the year ended December 31, 2013. The intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
was $1.0 million and $0.8 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2015, there were no options exercised. During 
the year ended December 31, 2015, 27,000 options, with a weighted average exercise price of $16.66, were forfeited. During the 
year ended December 31, 2014, 100,000 options, with a weighted average exercise price of $10.28, were forfeited. 
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The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2015:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number
Outstanding as of

December 31,
2015

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Number
Exercisable as of

December 31,
2015

Weighted
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life               
(in Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
(In Thousands)       (In Thousands)

403 6.83 $ 15.07 75 2.73 $ 12.97

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2015 was $0.4 million. The intrinsic value for 
stock options is calculated based on the exercise price of the underlying awards and the quoted closing price of the Company’s 
common stock as of December 31, 2015.

Service-Based Restricted Stock Awards

The following table summarizes the activity for awards of restricted stock with service-based vesting terms for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

Restricted Stock

Weighted Average Grant Date
Fair Value
(per share)

   (In Thousands)   

Unvested as of December 31, 2013 2,310 $ 10.01
Granted 412 11.73
Vested (931) 9.67
Forfeited (526) 9.97

Unvested as of December 31, 2014 1,265 10.84
Granted 457 16.30
Vested (470) 11.15
Forfeited (238) 11.07

Unvested as of December 31, 2015 1,014 $ 13.11

For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the weighted average grant date fair value for service-based restricted 
stock granted was $16.30, $11.73 and $10.21, respectively. The fair value of service-based restricted stock that vested during these 
periods was $5.2 million, $9.0 million and $4.8 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, 
193,088, 383,811 and 186,778 shares of service-based restricted stock, respectively, were repurchased by the Company in 
connection with the surrender of these shares by employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations related to the vesting of the 
service-based stock awards. The aggregate intrinsic value of unvested service-based restricted shares as of December 31, 2015
was $16.3 million. The intrinsic value for service-based restricted shares is calculated based on the par value of the underlying 
shares and the quoted price of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2015.

As of December 31, 2015, there was $7.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested service-based 
restricted shares, net of estimated forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.04 years. 
During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded $5.1 million, $4.9 million and $6.0 million, 
respectively, of compensation expense related to service-based restricted shares.
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Performance-Based Restricted Stock Awards

During each of the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company granted 31,250 restricted shares of common 
stock to its CEO, pursuant to his employment agreement. Vesting of these awards is based upon (1) the achievement of performance 
goals established by the Compensation Committee of the Board and (2) continued employment with the Company through the 
vesting date. The performance period for these awards ended on December 31 of each year. There were 31,250 of unvested 
performance-based restricted stock as of December 31, 2015 that were remeasured using the closing market price of $16.06 on 
December 31, 2015. The grant date fair value of this unvested performance-based restricted stock award was $16.66, which was 
determined using the fair market value of the Company's stock on the grant date. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the 
Compensation Committee of the Board determined that the performance goals related to the award granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2014 were achieved and therefore the award vested. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, 
the Company incurred stock-based compensation expense related to these performance-based restricted stock awards of $0.4 
million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million. As of December 31, 2015, there was $0.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related 
to unvested performance-based restricted stock award. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP")

The 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2009 ESPP”) was adopted by the Board of Directors, and was approved by 
the stockholders in May 2009, as a successor plan to the Company’s 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “1999 ESPP”). The 
first offering period under the 2009 ESPP began August 1, 2009 and shares were first purchased under this plan on January 31, 
2010. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors administers the ESPP. The 2009 ESPP permits a participating 
employee to make contributions to purchase shares of common stock by having withheld from his or her salary an amount between 
1% and 15% of compensation. Under the 2009 ESPP, eligible employees of the Company may elect to participate before the start 
date of a semi-annual offering period. On each purchase date during an offering period, a participating employee’s contributions 
will be used to purchase up to 1,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for such participating employee at a 15% discount 
from the fair market value, as defined in the 2009 ESPP, of such stock. In addition to the 1,000 share purchase limit, the cost of 
shares purchased under the plan by a participating employee cannot exceed $25,000 in any plan year. 

Under the terms of the 2009 ESPP, 300,000 shares of common stock of the Company were reserved for issuance. As of 
December 31, 2015, there were 48,174 shares available for future grants under the 2009 ESPP. Increases to the number of shares 
available for future grants under the 2009 ESPP require approval by the Board of Directors and the Company's stockholders.

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company issued shares of common stock under the 2009 ESPP, as 
follows:

Offering Period Purchase Date Number of Shares Purchase Price
(In Thousands)

January 31, 2014 18 $ 10.26
July 31, 2014 20 $ 10.31
Total 2014 38
January 31, 2015 20 $ 9.36
July 31, 2015 25 $ 12.61
Total 2015 45
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The fair value of 2009 ESPP rights have been estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 

with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
   ESPP Rights ESPP Rights ESPP Rights
Expected term 6 months 6 months 6 months
Risk-free rate 0.05% 0.05% - 0.06% 0.08% - 0.11%
Expected volatility 17.4 - 23.8% 25.2% - 29.3% 19.9% - 20.3%
Dividend yield —% —% —%

Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the market price of the Company’s stock. The expected lives of ESPP 
rights granted are based on the period of time between the offering date and the exercise date. The risk-free interest rates are based 
on the quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected term. The fair value for 2009 ESPP 
rights includes the option exercise price discount from market value provided for under the 2009 ESPP.

During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded $158,000, $104,000 and $84,000, 
respectively, of compensation expense related to 2009 ESPP rights. The weighted average grant-date fair value of 2009 ESPP 
rights arising from elections made by ESPP participants was $3.13, $2.63 and $2.24 during the years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013, respectively. The fair value of 2009 ESPP rights that vested during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 
2013 was $139,000, $102,000 and $67,000, respectively. 

 
The intrinsic value of shares purchased through the 2009 ESPP during the year ended December 31, 2015 was $127,000. The 

intrinsic value of outstanding 2009 ESPP rights as of December 31, 2015 was $59,000. The intrinsic value of the shares of 2009 
ESPP rights is calculated as the discount from the quoted price of the Company’s common stock, as defined in the 2009 ESPP, 
which was available to employees as of the respective dates.

As of December 31, 2015, there was approximately $16,000 of unrecognized compensation cost for the 2009 ESPP rights 
related to a 2015 offering period, which is expected to be recognized over a period of one month.

The Company received cash from the exercise of options and 2009 ESPP rights of $0.5 million, $0.9 million and $0.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for which the Company issued new shares of common stock.

The tax benefit attributable to all recorded stock-based compensation was $2.4 million, $2.6 million and $3.0 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2015, the Company also recorded  
increases of $1.0 million, $1.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively, to additional paid-in-capital, for tax benefits attributable to 
tax deductions generated from the exercise of employee stock options and vesting of restricted stock in excess of related stock-
based compensation recorded for financial reporting purposes. The tax benefits for these deductions are recognized when they 
result in a reduction to current taxes payable and are accounted for as additional paid-in-capital.

5. Acquisitions and Exit Activities

Acquisitions

On October 1, 2015, the Company acquired GigMasters.com Incorporated ("GigMasters"), a marketplace for party planners 
and hosts to find entertainment and event services. The Company previously owned 28.7% of GigMasters and paid $6.1 million
in cash for the remaining 71.3% representing a total enterprise value of $7.9 million. In connection with the acquisition, the 
Company recorded a gain of $0.8 million related to the fair market value of its noncontrolling interest in GigMasters.  A portion 
of the purchase price was allocated to the net tangible and intangible assets, in the amounts of $0.5 million and $3.7 million, 
respectively, based upon their fair values assessed as of the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price over these fair values 
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was allocated to goodwill, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill is primarily attributable to the 
synergies expected to arise after the acquisition. The allocation of the purchase price is as follows:

Assets and Liabilities Acquired Amount
(In Thousands)

Cash and other assets $ 449
Property and equipment 37
Software development 310
Trade name 480
Vendor relationships 2,900
Goodwill 5,525
Deferred revenue and other liabilities (1,002)
Deferred taxes, net (831)
Total purchase price $ 7,868

On March 26, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of Two Bright Lights, Inc. ("TBL"), a platform used by professional 
photographers to submit wedding photos, for a total purchase price of $5.3 million. TBL is expected to expand the Company's 
content to users and service offerings to vendors. A portion of the purchase price for the assets of TBL was allocated to the net 
tangible and intangible assets, in the amounts of $0.1 million and $1.7 million, respectively, based upon their fair values preliminarily 
assessed as of the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price over these fair values was allocated to goodwill, all of which 
is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The final allocation of the purchase price for the assets of TBL is as follows:

Assets and Liabilities Acquired Amount
(In Thousands)

Current assets $ 6
Other long term assets 7
Property and equipment 24
Software development 47
Trade name 36
Media content 325
Customer relationships 573
Goodwill 4,350
Deferred revenue and other liabilities (68)
Total purchase price $ 5,300

On March 10, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of Gojee, Inc. ("Gojee"), a mobile development company, for a total 
purchase price of $0.5 million. The full purchase price was allocated to goodwill, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax 
purposes. 

The results of operations for the acquired businesses have been included in the Company's consolidated statement of operations 
since the respective acquisition dates. Pro forma consolidated statements of operations have not been provided since the acquired 
assets would not have had a material impact on the Company's financial statements. 

Exit Activities
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The Company's merchandise operations included the fulfillment of customer orders from its warehouse facility in Redding, 
California. After reviewing the past and expected financial performance of the operations, in October 2014, the Company 
committed to a plan to cease operations at its warehouse in Redding, California. The process was completed in the first quarter 
of 2015. The Company continues to serve the transactional needs of its users through a registry and partner-based model for 
providing users with desired products and services. 

From 2010 to 2014, the Company operated a wedding content and publishing business in China. During 2014, the Company 
determined an expansion of the content and publishing business into China was no longer in the best interest of the Company and 
its stockholders. In December of 2014, the Company completed the disposition of its China wedding content and publishing 
operations (Ijie) to PUM Development Co, Ltd. and Novel Horizon Ventures Limited. The disposition consisted of 95% of the 
issued share capital of TK Investment, which holds the Ijie operations, for consideration consisting primarily of the assumption 
of ongoing operating responsibility of the Ijie operations, plus a nominal cash payment of $1.00. The Company retained 5% of 
the issued share capital of TK Investment. No asset value was recorded related to this investment. The Company recognized a loss 
related to the disposition of the Ijie operations in the aggregate amount of $1.8 million, which is included in interest and other 
income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014. The loss relates primarily 
to $1.1 million of carrying value of net assets in excess of the proceeds from the disposition, $0.4 million of disposal costs and 
$0.3 million associated with the realization of the cumulative translation adjustment. The tax impact from the disposition was 
approximately $1.4 million, for a total cost of approximately $3.2 million.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Amount
   (In Thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 38,500
Acquisition of the assets of Gojee, Inc. 500
Adjustment to deferred tax assets (1,479)
Acquisition of the assets of Two Bright Lights, Inc. 4,350
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 41,871
Acquisition of GigMasters.com Incorporated 5,525
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 47,396

The Company performed goodwill impairment testing each year as of October 1, 2015 and no impairments were recorded 
during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013. 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company determined that it understated the value of net operating loss 
carryforwards recorded as part of its September 2006 acquisition of WeddingChannel. Accordingly, the Company made an 
adjustment to increase the deferred tax asset associated with these net operating loss carryforwards and decrease goodwill by 
approximately $1.5 million, which represents the tax impact of approximately $4.9 million net operating loss carryforwards not 
recorded at the acquisition date.
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Other intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net Cost

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net Cost

   (In Thousands)
 Indefinite lived intangible assets:                  
 Trade names $ 480 $ — $ 480 $ 480 $ — $ 480
 URLs 35 — 35 35 — 35
     Subtotal indefinite lived
          intangible assets $ 515 $ — $ 515 $ 515 $ — $ 515
 Definite lived intangible assets:         
 Customer and advertiser relationships 3,743 (556) 3,187 897 $ (365) 532
 Media content 325 (114) 211 325 (49) 276
 Patents and developed technology 430 (56) 374 523 (283) 240
 Service contracts and other 94 (66) 28 150 (56) 94
Trademarks and trade names 516 (14) 502 3,571 (3,541) 30
     Subtotal definite lived
         intangible assets $ 5,108 $ (806) $ 4,302 $ 5,466 $ (4,294) $ 1,172
      Total intangible assets $ 5,623 $ (806) $ 4,817 $ 5,981 $ (4,294) $ 1,687

The Company evaluates intangible assets annually as of October 1 for impairment, or more often if indicators of impairment 
exist. In its assessment of impairment of intangible assets, the Company considers whether events or changes in circumstances 
such as significant declines in revenues, earnings or material adverse changes in the business climate indicate that the carrying 
value of assets may be impaired. The Company recorded $0.3 million impairment of its intangibles, related to patents, during the 
year ended December 31, 2015, which is recorded within the "asset impairment charges" line within the consolidated statements 
of operations. 

The annual impairment analysis as of October 1, 2014 resulted in the Company concluding that a definite-lived trade name 
and certain URLs were impaired, resulting in an impairment charge of $0.2 million. The annual impairment analysis for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 as of October 1, 2013 resulted in the Company concluding that an indefinite-lived trade name from a 
prior year acquisition was impaired, primarily based on an analysis of future cash flows expected to be generated by this trade 
name. As a result, an impairment charge of $0.2 million, representing the full carrying value of the asset, was 

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company concluded there were further impairment indicators with respect to 
the WeddingChannel trade name. Impairment indicators included continued declines in revenue, traffic and membership related 
to this site. As a result of its review, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment of $1.2 million to write down the value of the 
trade name. The resulting fair value measurement was considered to be a Level 3 measurement and was determined using a 
discounted cash flow methodology with assumptions for cash flows, royalty rate, and discount rate. The Company also evaluated 
the estimated useful life of this trade name asset, concluding that the remaining carrying value of the trade name should be amortized 
over a period of one year. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized accelerated amortization of the 
WeddingChannel trade name of $2.1 million.

Amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets was $0.4 million, $2.5 million and $1.1 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Estimated annual amortization expense is $0.8 million in 2016, $0.8 million in 
2017, $0.7 million in 2018, $0.5 million in 2019, and $1.5 million thereafter.
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7. Investments

As of December 31, 2015, the Company's investments of $2.7 million include equity ownership in the following entities:

Company Approximate % Ownership
Catchafire, Inc. 5.2%
Jetaport, Inc. 17.5%
A Vendor Services Company 21.1%

On July 2, 2015, the Company contributed $1.5 million in cash in exchange for a 17.61% equity interest (based on common 
and preferred shares outstanding) in Jetaport, Inc., a hotel room block marketplace technology company.  Based on outstanding 
stock options and options authorized but not granted at the date of acquisition, the Company’s equity interest could eventually be 
reduced to 15% upon approval by Jetaport's Board of Directors to increase the option pool.  The Company holds one seat out of 
three on Jetaport’s Board of Directors and accordingly the Company exercises significant influence over Jetaport and uses the 
equity method of accounting for this investment. In the third quarter of 2015, 75,700 options were exercised reducing the Company’s 
interest to approximately 17.5%. 

On July 17, 2015, the Company made an investment of $1.0 million in cash in exchange for a 21.1% equity interest (based 
on common and preferred shares outstanding) in a vendor services company.  The Company's equity interest could eventually be 
reduced to 20% if all of the vendor service company's current authorized stock options are granted and exercised. The Company 
uses the equity method of accounting for this investment since the ownership percentage is greater than 20% and the Company 
exercises significant influence. The Company was granted an observer seat on the Board of Directors of the vendor service company 
together with the right to convert the observer seat to a full voting seat. 

On January 16, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement to contribute $4.0 million in cash in exchange for a minority 
equity interest of approximately 3.0% in Touch Media International Holdings ("Touch Media"), an interactive in-taxi advertising 
and media platform with operations in China. The Company uses the cost method of accounting for this investment since the 
Company cannot exercise significant influence. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company determined that 
impairment indicators existed based upon consistent material underperformance to Touch Media’s financial projections and a weak 
financial condition. In addition, a recent investment in a subsidiary of Touch Media indicated a significant reduction in value and 
provided significant doubt about Touch Media’s ability to continue as a going concern.  As a result, the Company recorded an 
impairment charge of $4.0 million to reduce its investment in Touch Media to $0.

Effective May 31, 2014, the Company changed its method of accounting for its investment in Catchafire, Inc. from the equity 
method to the cost method of accounting. As of that date, the Company relinquished its representation on this investee's Board of 
Directors and, accordingly, the ability to exercise significant influence.

The Company's proportionate shares of the operating results of its equity method investments, including GigMasters through 
September 30, 2015, are recorded in gain (loss) in equity interests in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. Gains 
(losses) in equity interests for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 were $0.5 million, $(0.2) million, and $(2.0) 
million, respectively. Included in gain (loss) in equity interest during the year ended December 31, 2015 is a $0.8 million gain 
related to the fair market value of the noncontrolling equity interest in GigMasters. Loss in equity interests for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 includes an other-than-temporary impairment charge of $1.8 million, representing the full carrying value of 
the Pricing Engine, Inc. investment. 

8. Capital Stock

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides for 105,000,000 authorized shares of capital 
stock consisting of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, each having a par value of $0.01 per share and 5,000,000 shares of 
preferred stock, each having a par value of $0.001. 
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The Board of Directors is authorized, without further stockholder approval, to issue from time to time up to an aggregate of 
5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, in one or more series and to fix or alter the designations, preferences, rights, and any 
qualifications, limitations or restrictions, of the shares of each series thereof, including the dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion 
rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, including sinking fund provisions, redemption price or prices, liquidation preferences 
and the number of shares constituting any series or designation of series.

At December 31, 2015, the Company had reserved the following shares of common stock for future issuance under the 
Company’s 2009 Stock Incentive Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (collectively, the “Plans”):

Amount
   (In Thousands)

Shares under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan 2,805
Shares under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 48
Total common stock reserved for future issuance under the Plans 2,853

On April 10, 2013, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $20.0 million of 
the Company’s common stock (the “April 2013 Repurchase Program”).

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company repurchased shares totaling $8.8 million under the board 
approved $20.0 million repurchase authorization. Included in this repurchase were 96,948 shares of common stock repurchased 
on May 20, 2015 for $1.6 million from the wife of David Liu, Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, in a privately 
negotiated share repurchase transaction. The repurchase price was the closing market price of the shares on the day of the 
repurchase. The transaction was settled in May 2015 and decreased the Company’s common stock by a minimal amount, decreased 
additional paid in capital by $0.6 million and increased accumulated deficit by $1.0 million within stockholders’ equity.

As of December 31, 2015, there have been an aggregate of 634,479 shares repurchased for $10.4 million by the Company 
under the April 2013 Repurchase Program.
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9. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

The components of certain balance sheet accounts are as follows:

December 31,
   2015 2014
   (In Thousands)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Taxes $ 1,971 $ 786
Software licenses and maintenance 1,521 1,538
Compensation and employee benefits 324 221
Inventory - raw materials — 371
Inventory - finished goods — 269
Other 1,525 1,511
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 5,341 $ 4,696

Property and equipment      
Leasehold improvements $ 9,538 $ 9,722
Furniture and fixtures 597 654
Computer and office equipment 4,888 5,782
Less: accumulated depreciation (8,808) (8,323)

Total fixed assets, net 6,215 7,835
Capitalized software 18,909 16,646
Less: accumulated amortization (11,873) (9,356)

Total capitalized software, net 7,036 7,290
Total property and equipment, net $ 13,251 $ 15,125

Accounts payable and accrued expenses      
Accounts payable $ 3,018 $ 2,540
Compensation and employee benefits 5,826 6,339
Taxes 140 528
Other accrued expenses 3,179 3,056
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 12,163 $ 12,463

During the first quarter of 2015, all of the Company’s inventory was sold in conjunction with the closure of its merchandise 
operations in Redding, California.  

The Company made payments of $0.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2015, related to separation charges incurred 
in conjunction with the closure of its merchandise operations, thus eliminating the restructuring liability that was recorded within 
accounts payable and accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014. During the year ended 
December 31, 2015, the Company incurred additional charges related to the closure of its merchandise operations of $0.4 million.
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10. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
   (In Thousands)
Current:         

U.S. federal $ 3,351 $ 3,826 $ 3,876
Foreign 53 525 344
State and local 720 137 1,061

Total current 4,124 4,488 5,281
Deferred:

U.S. federal 3,299 1,012 (7)
Foreign — — 2
State and local 846 963 (435)

Total deferred 4,145 1,975 (440)
Provision for income taxes $ 8,269 $ 6,463 $ 4,841

The reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the income tax provision for the years 
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014 2013
   (In Thousands)
Income taxes at federal statutory rate $ 4,806 $ 2,424 $ 3,722
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 1,078 833 591
Sale of Ijie operations — 1,404 —
Foreign taxes (65) 714 (102)
Subpart F income — 570 —
Income tax reserve and other assessments 286 266 690
Nondeductible expenses 236 252 352
Provision for foreign unremitted earnings — 221 —
Return to provision (85) 51 (423)
Domestic production activities deduction — (236) (264)
Valuation allowance 2,190 — —
Other (177) (36) 275
Provision for income taxes $ 8,269 $ 6,463 $ 4,841

The increase in the Company's effective tax rate in the current year was primarily attributable to the recording of a valuation 
allowance, primarily relating to the Company's impairment of certain investments. The valuation allowance increased by $2.2 
million during the year ended December 31, 2015.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred 
tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
   2015 2014
   (In Thousands)
Deferred tax assets:      

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards $ 11,825 $ 12,745
Allowance for doubtful accounts and other reserves 2,070 3,092
Deferred rent 2,085 2,392
Stock-based compensation 1,721 1,550
Equity method investments 2,525 927
Other 189 194
Valuation allowance (2,610) —

Total deferred tax assets $ 17,805 $ 20,900

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted earnings $ (267) $ (221)
Intangible assets (1,746) (165)
Property and equipment (1,840) (2,405)
Capitalized software costs (2,374) (1,947)

Total deferred tax liabilities (6,227) (4,738)
Total net deferred tax assets $ 11,578 $ 16,162

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $31.6 million for federal tax 
purposes, which are set to expire in years 2019 through 2026. The majority of this amount represents acquired tax loss carryforwards 
of WeddingChannel.com, which are subject to limitation on future utilization under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986. Section 382 imposes limitations on the availability of a company’s net operating losses after a more than 50 percentage point 
ownership change occurs over a 3 year period. It is estimated that the effect of Section 382 will generally limit the amount of the 
net operating loss carryforwards of WeddingChannel.com that is available to offset future taxable income to approximately $3.6 
million annually. The overall determination of the annual loss limitation is subject to interpretation, and, therefore, the annual loss 
limitation could be subject to change.

The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits for 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
   (In Thousands)
Balances of unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1 $ 2,176 $ 5,093

(Decreases) increases for positions taken in prior years 1,686 (3,089)
Increases for positions related to the current year — 172
Expiration of the statute of limitations (232) —

Balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 $ 3,630 $ 2,176

Of the total $3.6 million, approximately $1.8 million is presented within other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets. These unrecognized tax benefits would affect the Company's effective income tax rate, if and when recognized in future 
years. The remainder of the unrecognized tax benefits has been netted against the related deferred and current tax assets and, if 
recognized, would also be reported as a reduction of income tax expense. The Company does not presently anticipate such uncertain 
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tax positions will significantly increase or decrease in the next twelve months; however, actual developments could differ from 
those currently expected.

The Company is subject to income tax in the United States and various foreign state and local jurisdictions. In 2013, the 
Company received notification that its New York state franchise tax returns would be audited for the years ended December 31, 
2010 through December 31, 2012. This audit was completed during 2014 and resulted in no change in taxes due. The Company 
is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examination for tax years 2012, 2013 and 2014; however, net operating losses 
utilized by the Company that were generated in prior years are subject to review.

The Company records interest and penalties as a component of income tax expense. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013, the total interest and penalties included in the Company's tax provision was $50 thousand, $30 thousand and $0.2 
million, respectively.  As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had $0.4 million of accrued interest and penalties related 
to accrued income taxes. 

Following the sale of the Company’s Ijie operations, the Company determined that it will no longer permanently reinvest its 
foreign earnings and as a result the Company has recorded a deferred tax liability in the amount of $0.3 million and $0.2 million
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectfully.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Long-Term Restricted Cash

On May 13, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with 195 Broadway LLC to lease office space for its New York 
headquarters. The Company is required to deliver to 195 Broadway LLC, and maintain in effect during the entire lease term, an 
unconditional irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $2.4 million, as security for the Company’s obligations under the lease. 
Provided the Company is not in default beyond the applicable notice and grace periods, on the fifth anniversary of the lease 
commencement date, the required letter of credit amount will be reduced to $1.2 million. On May 12, 2011, the Company entered 
into an irrevocable letter of credit with Union Bank of Switzerland (“UBS”) in the amount of $2.6 million. The letter of credit 
matured and was renewed on May 12, 2012 and will continue to renew on a yearly basis. The letter of credit is collateralized by 
U.S. Treasury Bills in the amount of $2.6 million. The additional amount of $200,000 was required by UBS to account for potential 
market fluctuation in the value of such collateral. Upon a default by the Company in respect of its payment obligations under the 
lease, 195 Broadway LLC may request the funds from UBS under the terms of the letter of credit, and UBS will draw down on 
the Company’s restricted cash to satisfy the obligation.

Restricted Cash

The Company held $0.5 million restricted cash related to the acquisition of the assets of Two Bright Lights, Inc. completed 
in March 2014. Under this escrow agreement, the cash was held as restricted through September 2015, at which point it was 
released, as there were no contingencies for which the Company needed to reimburse.

Operating Leases

The Company leases office facilities and certain warehouse space under non-cancelable operating lease agreements which 
expire at various dates through 2022. Rent-free periods and scheduled rent increases are recorded as components of rent expense 
on a straight-line basis over the related terms of such leases. Rent expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013 amounted to $3.0 million, $3.0 million and $2.9 million, respectively. 
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,
2016 $ 2,982
2017 2,849
2018 2,943
2019 2,775
2020 2,754
Thereafter 4,059

Total $ 18,362

Legal Proceedings

As of December 31, 2015, the Company was engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business and 
believes that the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a material effect on its results of operations, financial position or 
cash flows.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

In connection with the sale of our Ijie operations, the Company has agreed to indemnify the buyers for certain liabilities that 
may arise related to events prior to the sale transaction or breach of our covenants under the sale agreement. We do not believe 
this will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

12. 401(k) Plan

The Company maintains a 401(k) plan covering all eligible employees and provides for a Company match on a portion of 
participant contributions. Employees may contribute up to 92% of their eligible compensation, subject to IRS maximums. The 
Company matches 25% of the first 4% of eligible compensation contributed. The Company’s matching contributions are made in 
cash and amounted to $0.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively.
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 13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth certain unaudited condensed consolidated quarterly statement of operations data for the eight 
quarters ended December 31, 2015. This information is unaudited, but in the opinion of management, it has been prepared 
substantially on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and all necessary adjustments, consisting only of 
normal recurring adjustments, have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the unaudited consolidated quarterly 
results of operations. The condensed consolidated quarterly data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated 
financial statements and the notes to such statements. The results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of 
the results of operations for any future period.

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

   (In Thousands, Except for Per Share Data)
2015            
Net revenue:            

Online advertising $ 23,916 $ 24,725 $ 25,038 $ 28,026
Transactions 2,294 4,163 4,809 3,434
Merchandise 878 — — —
Publishing and other 5,514 7,302 4,859 6,686

Total net revenue 32,602 36,190 34,706 38,146
Gross profit 29,947 33,344 32,656 35,310
Net income(loss)(2) $ 1,445 $ 3,311 $ 2,866 $ (2,158)
Net income (loss) per share(1); (2):            

Basic $ 0.06 $ 0.13 $ 0.11 $ (0.09)
Diluted $ 0.06 $ 0.13 $ 0.11 $ (0.09)

2014            
Net revenue:            

Online advertising $ 21,349 $ 22,051 $ 22,122 $ 24,027
Transactions 1,886 3,072 3,430 1,982
Merchandise 3,653 4,775 4,473 3,007
Publishing and other 5,532 8,432 5,833 8,040

Total net revenue 32,420 38,330 35,858 37,056
Gross profit 27,960 32,288 30,997 31,224
Net income (loss)(3) (676) 3,047 2,084 (3,993)
Net income (loss) per share(1)(3):            

Basic $ (0.03) $ 0.12 $ 0.08 $ (0.16)
Diluted $ (0.03) $ 0.12 $ 0.08 $ (0.16)

(1) The sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the full-year amount, as the computations of the weighted-average number of 
common basic and diluted shares outstanding for each quarter and the full year are performed independently.

(2) During the three months ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized an impairment expense of $4.0 million related to Touch Media  
which is  included in "Interest and other (expense) income, net".

(3) During the three months ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a loss related to the disposition of its Ijie operations of approximately 
$3.2 million. 
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Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

(In Thousands)

Balance
Beginning of

Year

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Write-offs,
Net of

Recoveries and
Actual Returns

Balance at
End of Year

2015
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,821 $ 1,764 $ (1,941) $ 1,644
Allowance for returns 935 5,501 (5,412) 1,024

Total $ 2,756 $ 7,265 $ (7,353) $ 2,668
2014

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 936 $ 1,422 $ (537) $ 1,821
Allowance for returns 742 5,987 (5,794) 935

Total $ 1,678 $ 7,409 $ (6,331) $ 2,756
2013

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 898 $ 446 $ (408) $ 936
Allowance for returns 569 6,206 (6,033) 742

Total $ 1,467 $ 6,652 $ (6,441) $ 1,678



72

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

 Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness 
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of December 31, 2015. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to ensure that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in 
Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has assessed 
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 based on criteria established in Internal 
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 
Framework). As a result of this assessment, management concluded that as of December 31, 2015, the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting was effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Ernst & 
Young LLP has issued an attestation report on management’s internal control over financial reporting, a copy of which is included 
in this Form 10-K in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the three months and year ended 
December 31, 2015 identified in connection with the evaluation thereof by the Company’s management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will 
prevent or detect all error and fraud. Any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain 
assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances 
of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to 
provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have 
concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective at that reasonable assurance level.

 Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

 Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the sections captioned “Election of Directors,” 
“Management,” “Board Meetings and Committees — Audit Committee,” “Corporate Governance — Codes of Conduct,” “Section 
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “Board Meetings and Committees — Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we plan to file 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the end of the calendar year to which this report relates.

 Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the sections captioned “Compensation Discussion 
and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report” (which information shall be deemed furnished in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K), “Executive and Director Compensation” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our 
definitive proxy statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we plan to file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission within 120 days of the end of the calendar year to which this report relates.

 Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2015. All outstanding 
awards relate to our common stock. For additional information about our equity compensation plans, refer to Notes 4 and 8 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.

Plan Category

Number of Securities to
Be Issued Upon Exercise
of Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for Future 

Issuance Under Equity 
Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities

Reflected in Second Column)
Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 402,567 $ 15.07 2,853,104
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders — — —
Total 402,567 2,853,104

The other information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the section captioned “Ownership of Securities” 
in our definitive proxy statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we plan to file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days of the end of the calendar year to which this report relates.

 Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the sections captioned “Certain Relationships and 
Related Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2016
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we plan to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the end 
of the calendar year to which this report relates.

 Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the sections captioned “Fees” and “Pre-Approval 
Policies and Procedures” in the proposal related to ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting 
firm in our definitive proxy statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we plan to file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days of the end of the calendar year to which this report relates.
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PART IV

 Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1 Financial Statements.
See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8.

2 Financial Statement Schedules.
See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8.

3 Exhibits.
Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits attached to this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, XO Group Inc. has 
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of New York, State 
of New York, on this 3rd day of March 2016.

XO GROUP INC.
By:  /s/ Michael Steib                                     

Michael Steib
Chief Executive Officer & President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 3, 2016.

Signature   Title(s)
/s/ Michael Steib          
Michael Steib   Chief Executive Officer, President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Gillian Munson        
Gillian Munson  

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ David Liu                 
David Liu   Chairman of the Board of Directors
/s/ Charles Baker           
Charles Baker   Director
/s/ Diane Irvine              
Diane Irvine   Director
/s/ Barbara Messing       
Barbara Messing   Director
/s/ Peter Sachse             
Peter Sachse   Director
/s/ Elizabeth Schimel    
Elizabeth Schimel Director
/s/ Michael Zeisser        
Michael Zeisser Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Number   Description

3.1  
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration number 333-87345) (the “Form S-1”))

3.2  
Amended and Restated Bylaws (Incorporated by reference to the identically numbered exhibit to Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2011 (the “Q2 2011 10-Q”))

3.3  
Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to
the identically numbered exhibit to the Q2 2011 10-Q)

4.1  
Specimen Common Stock certificate (Incorporated by reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the Q2
2011 10-Q)

4.2   See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions defining the rights of holders of common stock of Registrant

4.6  
Warrant Certificate issued to Allen & Company LLC on October 27, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.6 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 21, 2005)

10.5*   
2000 Non-Officer Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (Registration number 333-41960))

10.6*   
Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration number 333-74398))

10.7*    1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1)
10.11*   Form of Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1)

10.12  
Common Stock Purchase Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and May Bridal Corporation (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 29, 2002)

10.13  

Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and May Bridal Corporation,
dated as of November 11, 2003 (Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
(Registration number 333-111060))

10.16  

Agreement, dated as of June 5, 2006, between Federated Department Stores, Inc. and The Knot, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to the identically numbered exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 13, 2007)

10.17*  
Letter Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Nic Di Iorio dated January 11, 2008 (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.18 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2008)

10.18  
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 30, 2008 between The Knot, Inc. and Macy’s, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 2, 2008)

10.19*  
Letter Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Carol Koh Evans (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 12, 2008)

10.20*  

Letter Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and David Liu dated November 5, 2008 (Incorporated by reference
to the identically numbered exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2008
(the “Q3 2008 10-Q”))

10.21*  
Letter Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Carley Roney dated November 5, 2008 (Incorporated by
reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the Q3 2008 10-Q)

10.22*  
Name And Likeness Licensing Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Carley Roney dated November 5, 2008
(Incorporated by reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the Q3 2008 10-Q)

10.24*  
Letter Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Jeremy Lechtzin dated August 7, 2008 (Incorporated by
reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the Q3 2008 10-Q)

10.25*  

2009 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-8, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2009 (Registration number
333-159455))

10.26*  

2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-8, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2009 (Registration
number 333-159455))

10.27*  

Suspension to Name And Likeness Licensing Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Carley Roney dated as
of July 1, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on November 9, 2009)

10.28  
Agreement, dated as of January 11, 2010, between Macy’s, Inc. and The Knot, Inc. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.28 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2010)
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Number   Description

10.29*  

Amendment to Name And Likeness Licensing Agreement between The Knot, Inc. and Carley Roney dated as
of February 18, 2010 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on May 10, 2010)

10.30  

Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 25, 2011, by and among The Knot, Inc., Macy’s Inc., and Macy’s
Corporate Services, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2011)

10.31*  
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
the identically numbered exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2011)

10.32*  
2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the Q2 2011
10-Q)

10.33*  

Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Kristin Savilia dated September 7, 2011 (Incorporated by
reference to the identically numbered exhibit to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15,
2012)

10.34*

Form of Participation Letter Agreement under the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference
to the identically numbered exhibit to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 18, 2013
(the "2013 Annual Report")

10.35*
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for 2012 long-term incentive awards (Incorporated by reference to
the identically numbered exhibit to the 2013 Annual Report)

10.36*
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for 2013 awards under Long-Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated
by reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the 2013 Annual Report)

10.37*
Form of Vested Stock Award Agreement for 2014 awards under Long-Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by
reference to the identically numbered exhibit to the 2013 Annual Report)

10.38*
Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Rob Fassino dated June 19, 2012 (Incorporated by reference to
the identically numbered exhibit to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2013)

10.39*
Employment Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Michael Steib dated as of June 28, 2013 (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 3, 2013)

10.40*

Employment Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Gillian Munson dated as of November 12, 2013
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 18,
2013)

10.42* Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Rob Fassino dated October 3, 2013

10.43*
Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and David Liu dated April 7, 2014 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 11, 2014)

10.44*

Amendment to Name and Likeness Licensing Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Carley Roney dated
April 7, 2014 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
April 11, 2014)

10.45*
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and David Liu dated April 16, 2014
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 17, 2014)

10.46*
Amendment to the Employment Agreement between XO Group and Michael Steib dated April 17, 2014
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 17, 2014)

10.47*
Amendment to the Employment Agreement between XO Group and Gillian Munson dated April 17, 2014
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 17, 2014)

10.48*
2009 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (Registration number 333-198192))

10.49*
Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and David Liu dated December 16, 2014 (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 16, 2014)

10.50*
Letter Agreement between XO Group Inc. and Carley Roney dated December 16, 2014 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 16, 2014)

21.1   Subsidiaries
23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

31.1  
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and President Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), As Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2  
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1†  
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and President Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, As Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2†  
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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101.INS**   XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH**   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL**   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB**   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
101.PRE**   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF**   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document



79

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

† The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and Exhibit 32.2 accompany the Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company for purposes of Section 
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

** Pursuant to applicable securities laws and regulations, the Registrant is deemed to have complied with the reporting 
obligation relating to the submission of interactive data files in such exhibits and is not subject to liability under any anti-
fraud provisions of the federal securities laws as long as the Registrant has made a good faith attempt to comply with the 
submission requirements and promptly amends the interactive data files after becoming aware that the interactive data 
files fail to comply with the submission requirements. These interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a 
registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are 
deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not 
subject to liability under these sections.
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CONGRATS TO ALL  
OF OUR XO GROUP 
TEAMMATES CELEBRATING 
LIFE’S BIGGEST MOMENTS.



XO Group Inc.    •    195 Broadway, 25th Floor    •    New York, NY  10007    •    212.219.8555    •    xogroupinc.com

yours. truly. 
Leah Ableson / Amanda Abreu / Austin Adams / Shivani Agarwal / Heather / Alaoui-Mamoun / Stephen Alvarez / Andy An / Nayha Anand / Betsy Anderson / Brittany Anderson /  
Ivana Andreani Fabroni / Kathleen Andresen / Ashley Archer / Amanda Arends / Stefany Arias / Tammy Arndt / Anisa Arsenault / Arielle Asher / Scott Ashmore / Caryn Audenried / Marci 
Augustine / Melissa Bach / Pratek Bahl / Lewaa Bahmad / Sherard Bailey / Bernadette Baillie / Matithyohu Balas / Lauren Banister / Sara Barmherzig / Jennifer Baumann / Allison Becker 
/ Emily Beckwith / Megan Beeler / Jerilyn Beilman / Rita Beim / Denise Bell / Madison Bendorf / Brian Benton / Ashley Bergen / Alison Bernstein / Susan Berryman / Paisley Bittner / 
Andrew Bona / Gabrielle Borger / Sydney Borlabi / Nicole Bormann / Monica Borzen / Eamon Bourque / Maria Bouselli / Hillary Boyd / Katherine Wu Brady / Kathleen Brame / Micaela 
Brewer / Danyelle Broady / Melissa Bromberg / Shelley Brown / Meghan Brown / Leslie Brown / Lois Brunnert / Jenna Bruno / Heather Buchma / Richard Buckholz / Lacey Budd / Daniel 
Burbank / Paul Burinda / Justine Buskirk / Richard Cai / Andres Caicedo / Susan Cain / Michael Caldwell / Edwin Calte / Kyle Campbell / Christine Campbell / Danielle Candela / Joe 
Caniglia / Bella Cao / Rene Carag / Vladimir Carballo / Courtney Carlesimo / Naomi Carlson / Lindsay Carolla / Suzanne Carroll / Latasha Carter / Sean Castruita / Maria Catalano / 
Amanda Cernik / Raymond Chan / Lam Chan / Reid Chandler / Breanna Chandler / Sonya Cheatham / Thomas Chelednik / Mandy Chen / Raymond Chen / Martin Chen / Steve chen / 
Ben Chen / Tricia Chen / Fred Chen / Piano Che / Sany Chen / Tyro Chen / Fiona Chen / Rill Chen / Helen Cheng / Cheryl Cheng / Vinson Chiaramonte / Philip Chiu / Tracy Cho / Anna 
Choinska-Hasbi / Jessica Chouy / Yun Cho / Yuki Chow / Calla Chuy / Martha Civitillo / Brittany Clark / Cody Clayton / Jared Clifton / Matthew Cohen / Anthony Colon / Ellyse Coombes 
/ Kristen Cooper / Alexander Copquin  / Meghan Corrigan  / James Coutu  / Jacqueline Cox / Rebecca Crumley / Charles Culley / Marc Culver / Molly Cumiskey / Glenn Cunningham / 
Nicole Daberkow / Leigh Daly / Callie D’Ambrisi / Jacob Dankner / Laura DaSilva / Jennifer Davidson / Shannon Davis / Joanna Dedvukaj / James Delonay /Laura DeLucia / Mary Demers 
/ Wendy Deng / Brandon Deng / Tyler Deng / Paige DePaolis / Madhavilaltha Devireddy / Peter Di Iorio / Nicola Di Iorio / Michelle Diago / Susana Diharce / Jessica Dillion / Patricia Dixon  
/ Chaucy Dixon / Jacqueline Do / Frank Dolphens / Jose Dominguez / Heather Dorsten / Rhea Dowhower / Jocelyn Doyle / Michela Duggan / Katherine Durham / Michelle Dvorkin / 
Roxanne Dyer / Steven Dziedzic / Justin Edwards / Daniel Ege / Nicole Eggenberger / Cynthia Elley / Christina Emerson / Vanessa Eng / Sara Ezrin Larsen / Manuel Familia / Melissa 
Farber / Margaret Fazio / Susannah Federowicz / Nancy Feng / Chris Feng / Willie Feng / Chris Feng / Joyce Feng / Kimberley Feys / Gary Fikes / Robin Filan / Jena Fogarty / Nicholas 
Fortunato / Veronica Fountain / Andrea Fowler / Alecia Fox / Eileen Frary / Christina Frauendorfer / May Fu / Jennifer Fusillo / Aaron Gadowski / William Gan / Deon Gao / Laura Gardner  
/ Jennifer Garfield / Jennifer Garrett / Peter Gavin / Nicole Gengaro / Jaclyn Gibson / Shannon Gill / Joseph Gilston / Denise Giorno / Amanda Goetz / Danielle Goldman / Jenna 
Goldstein / Jennifer Gomez / Dennis Gonzalez / Pooja Goradia / Anastasiya Gorelik / Ashley Gorelik / Kellie Gould / Lauren Greene / Sharon Grimes / Ryan Gritz / Cruze Gu / Megan 
Guffey / Candy Guo / Rhonda Haberkamp / Kathryn Hadley / Jenna Halbert / Denise Hall-Green / Lisa Hamilton / Roland Hamilton / Bryan Hanlon / Laura Hansen / Jesse Hardy / Raif 
Harik / Joseph Haring / Amanda Hartmann / Tonia Hass / Veronica Hatch / Jonathan Hawkins / Katrina Hayes / Tian He / Samantha Hedrick / Rochell Heininger / Amy Hellmann / Megan 
Herlihy / Cesar Hernandez / Emily Hetmanek / Rebecca Heuwinkel / Joshua Himwich / Stephanie Hinson / Catherine Hirsch / Alison Hoffman-Lucas / Kevin Hong / Thomas Honken / 
Timothy Hordern / Katie Hover / Jessica Howell / Elaine Hu / Samson Hu / Arthur Huang / Chandler Huang / Hailey Huang / Jay Huang / Sophia Huan  / Alexandria Huerter /  
Chien-Ming Huey / Megan Hughes / Avery Hutchinson / Emily Imbo / Robert Inconstanti / Rachel Jackson / Sandra Jackson / Ivy Jacobson / Lynn Jane / Amber Jardine / Amy Jiang / 
Bruce Jiang / Amanda Johnson / Megan Johnson / Julie Johnston / Catherine Johnston / Timothy Jones / Jeremy Jones / Alexis Jonnson / Ravi Joshi / Amanda Juhnke / Dmitry Jum  / 
Kaci Kaltrider / Jena Kaneshiro / Leslie Karrer / Emily Katz-Fishbein / Jennifer Kay / Lacy Keilig / Steven Kelly / Philip Kelly / Brad Kempfert / Adam Keys / Howard Kim / Melina Klinger 
Walzer / Elise Kneram / Katherine Kortebein / Erin Kouba / Kellee Kratzer / Irina Krechmer / Cassie Kreitner / Muruli Krishna Narayana Reddy / Mindy Krupp / Kathryn Kuroski / Jason 
LaCarrubba / Howard Ladd / Lise Lahood / Milly Lai / Lucas Lai / Jerica Lam / Sarah Lambert / Will Lao / Kristin Lauritsch / Kathleen Leavitt / Yu Lee / Simon Lee / Jenna Legat  / Sandy 
Lemen / Caitlin Lenhart / Kimberly Lepper / Ardian Lesmana / Eben Levy / Jane Li  / Jing Li / Yuki Li / Adrian Li / Evan Li / Liya Li / Selina Li / Jerry Li / Suki Li / Raymond Li / Thomas Li  
/ Lynn Li / Yan Li / Lindsey Lian / Vincent Liang / Sasha Liao / Kelly Lin / Mayo Lin / Aaron Ling / Sean Lipkin / Cristina Lisboa / Justin Lisbon / Janus Liu / Tony Liu / Albert Liu / Eric Liu  
/ Judy Liu / Sarah Liu / Rachel Liu / Phoebe Lliu / Mechelle Lobpries / Long Loi / Carrie Lokonon / Melissa Lonsdale / Sarah Love / Aubrey Lu / Amanda Lukowski / Vincy Ma / Lisa 
Macdonald / Courtney Maher / Christie Manning / Carolyn Mantone / Mike Mao / Kelsey Marino / Colby Markwell / Ivan Marmolejos / Jose Marmolejos / Arielle Martinez / Nicole 
Martinez / Anais Martinez-Ruane / Julianne Marzulla / Richard Massey / Mary McGinty / Molly Mcguire / Stephen Mchugh / Erin McKay / Amanda McMaster / Kevin McNamee / Julie 
McNulty / Kelly McPartland / George Mcrae / John Mejia / Anthony Mendez / Alan Metzger / Matthew Mezo / Anne Mezzapelle / Kathryn Mezzapelle / Mindi Middleton / Catherine 
Migliazzo / Eugene Millerman / Jennifer Mills / Casey Minor / Sue Mo / Jessica Molinari / Beverly Moore / Tuilly Morita / Caitlin Morley / Gillian Munson / Michelle Myers / Janani 
Nagarajan / Anthony Napolitano / Anthony Nardella / Dmitri Nesterenko / Kristen Newquist / Kathy Nguyen / Thanh Nguyen / Amanda Niebuhr / Sarah Niedzwiecki / Joshua Nili  / Jessica 
Noel / Lauren Nolan / Jennine Norcross / Krista O’Brien / Kenneth O’Brien / Kathryn O’Han / Lisa O’Keefe / Marissa Olivier / Stephen O’Neal / Jacqueline Ornellas / Kylee Orriss / Chad 
Ossman / Erin O’Toole / Kelsey O’Toole / Tamara Pacwa / Anthony Pagano / Marcy Palacios / Courtney Pandolfi / Nicole Paolacci / Konstantinos Papadopoulos / Ashley Pappalardo  / 
Ronni Paradiso / Laura Parewski / Victoria Parker / Jennifer Parliament / Alexander Patton / Dudley Paul / Alysha Pearlberg / Olivia Peck / Chelsea Pellegrino / Danielle Pelletiere / Spin 
Peng  / Jennifer Perciballi  / Lindsey Perdeck / Srividya Peri / Mary Pernod / Amber Petersen / Maria Pfeiffer / Barrett Phillips / Kristopher Pickrell / Robert Pigue / John Pike / Steven 
Pironti / Mark Pittman / Krista Plano / Aaron Plantenga / Elizabeth Plath / Karrie Ploss / Sidney Polycarpe / Kimberly Pomerenk / Ryan Ponte / Jennifer Porter / Christopher Poulos / 
Richard Powell / Nicholas Prashad / Steven Preston / Joshua Pritchard / George Proctor / Lindsay Puchalsky / Alex Qiu / Maksim Qu / David Quatresols / Kaitlyn Quenzer / Jessica Raab  
/ Jaclyn Raftery / Kathryn Ragan / Deborah Rahaii / Morgan Rawlings / Robert Redcay / Candice Reggi / John Reggio / Michelle Renteria / Amy Reynolds / Kimberly Richart / Kate Richter 
/ Tracy Ridgway / Tara Ritting / Mark Roberts / Monica Robinson / Nephtali Rodriguez / Elizabeth Roehrig / Natalie Rogers / Kimberly Rogers / Brandi Rojas / Abby Romaine / Matthew 
Rook / Jennifer Rosado / Alexandra Ross / Rhonda Ross / Jean Rossell / Jill Rothman / Kelley Rowland / Janet Rubin / Sasha Sabsowitz / Enrique Sacasa / Stacy Sadikoff-Brambila / Meuy 
Saefong / Emad Saghir / Jill Santom / Nelly Santoso  /  Michelle Saparito / Jennifer Sardina / Kristin Savilia / Ankit Saxena / Marcus Schiffman / Matthew Schmitt / Lindley Schneider / 
Amy Schoenfeld / Julie Schor / Kasey Schroeder / Renee Scornavacca / Charlette Scott / Margaret Seaver / Sarah Selph / Karla Setser / Tenille Seuss / Ashley Shawn-Olsen / Thomas-Ann 
Shelby / Wendy Shelton-Southers / Denicia Simms / Catherine Sindelar / Dhanusha Sivajee / Georgina Skarzynski / Gilbert Slade / Jessica Smith / Elizabeth Smith / Michael Snyder / 
Andrea Sobczyk / Krystal Sossaman / Lauren Soufleris / Keri Sowerby / Rebecca Spaide / Nikole Spangler / Robyn St.  / Sandra Stanfield / Nicole Steeger / Michael Steib / Christopher 
Steib / Carly Steier / Cassandra Steinauer / Bevin Stella / Richard Stern / Joshua Stewart / William Stewart / Darcy Strobel / Anthony Su / Cathy Sun / Gayle Susser / Goran Svorcan  / 
Rachel Swerdloff  / Rachel Sylvester / Adam Tal / Spencer Tang / Taurin Tao / Sarah Targy / George Taveras / Diana Taykhman / Alexandria Teixeira / Diane Thaete / Brianna Theobald / 
Christina Thomas / Callie Thomas / Stephen Thomas / Maura Thomson / Jenna Tocchet / Jeremy Tortora / Barrie Tovar / Catarina Tsang / Silvia Tueros-Cossio / Brent Tworetzky / John 
Tyler / Ashley Umbarger / Jocelyn Valentin / Mallory Vallier / Namrata Vansadia / Silver Varela / Lauren Vecci / Vanessa Velazquez / Stephanie Venkatraman / Muthithar Vinson / Lindsay 
Vodicka / Sarah Waller / Kristin Walsifer / Ke Wang / Julia Wang / Olaf Wang / Kitty Wang / Christine Warne / Karen Warnes / Fish Wei / Cindy Wei / Gina Weig / Christopher Weikel / 
Jessica Whitman / Cecelia Wicklin / Timaree / Wiederspan / Jasmine Wiggins / Clifford Wildman / Nathaniel Wilkins / Jessica Williams / Madeline Williams / Daryl Wills / Sean Wilson / 
Lisa Wingate / Anja Winikka / Jason Wohlfahrt / David Wolkofsky / Heidi Wong / Sarah Wood / Kelly Workman-Flood / Skylar Wright / Renee Wu / Lenna Wu / Ivy Wu / John Wu / Lina 
Wu / Daisy Xiao / Tingting Xu / Calla Yang / Kammy Yao / Lucky Yi / Wing Yong / Yoon Yu / Kira Yu / Kirin Yuan / David Zaretsky / Harris Zeng / Helen Zeng / Tina Zeng / Milly Zhan / Min 

Zhang / Gabriel Zhang / Joe Zhang / Minnie Zhao / Allen Zheng / Roy Zheng / Kelvin Zhong / Shawn Zhou / Almin Zhou / Tracy Zhuang / Sheryl Ziegler / Peter Zimbelman / Nika Zuerlein
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